
        Development Committee 
 
 

Please contact: Lauren Gregory 
Please email: lauren.gregory@north-norfolk.gov.uk Direct Dial: 01263 516108 
TO REGISTER TO SPEAK PLEASE SEE BOX BELOW 
 

Wednesday, 4 December 2024 
 

A meeting of the Development Committee will be held in the Council Chamber - Council Offices on 
Thursday, 12 December 2024 at 9.30 am. 
 
At the discretion of the Chairman, a short break will be taken after the meeting has been running for 
approximately one and a half hours 
 

Please note that members of the public should not speak to Committee Members prior to or 
during the meeting. 
 

PUBLIC SPEAKING: 
Members of the public who wish to speak on applications must register by 9 am on the Tuesday before 
the meeting by telephoning Reception on 01263 513811  or by emailing reception@north-
norfolk.gov.uk   Please read the information on the procedure for public speaking at Development 
Committee on our website or request a copy of “Have Your Say” from Customer Services. 
 

Anyone may take photographs, film or audio-record the proceedings and report on the meeting. If you 
are a member of the public and you wish to speak, please be aware that you may be filmed or 
photographed. Please note that this meeting is livestreamed: 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCsShJeAVZMS0kSWcz-WyEzg 
 

Presentations:  If you wish to view the Officers’ presentations for the applications being considered by 
the Committee please follow the following link: 
https://modgov.north-norfolk.gov.uk/ecCatDisplayClassic.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13644&path=0  
 

 
 
Emma Denny 
Democratic Services Manager 
 
To: Cllr P Heinrich, Cllr R Macdonald, Cllr M Batey, Cllr A Brown, Cllr P Fisher, Cllr A Fitch-Tillett, 
Cllr M Hankins, Cllr V Holliday, Cllr G Mancini-Boyle, Cllr P Neatherway, Cllr J Toye, Cllr K Toye, 
Cllr A Varley and Cllr L Vickers 
 
Substitutes: Cllr T Adams, Cllr P Bailey, Cllr K Bayes, Cllr J Boyle, Cllr S Bütikofer, Cllr N Dixon, 
Cllr T FitzPatrick, Cllr W Fredericks, Cllr L Paterson, Cllr J Punchard, Cllr C Ringer, Cllr E Spagnola, 
Cllr E Vardy and Cllr L Withington 
 

All other Members of the Council for information. 
Members of the Management Team, appropriate Officers, Press and Public 

 

If you have any special requirements in order 
to attend this meeting, please let us know in advance 

If you would like any document in large print, audio, Braille, alternative format or in 
a different language please contact us 

 
Chief Executive:  Steve Blatch 

Tel 01263 513811  Fax  01263 515042  Minicom  01263 516005 
Email  districtcouncil@north-norfolk.gov.uk  Web site  www.north-norfolk.gov.uk 

Public Document Pack

mailto:reception@north-norfolk.gov.uk
mailto:reception@north-norfolk.gov.uk
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCsShJeAVZMS0kSWcz-WyEzg
https://modgov.north-norfolk.gov.uk/ecCatDisplayClassic.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13644&path=0
mailto:districtcouncil@north-norfolk.gov.uk


A G E N D A 
 

PLEASE NOTE: THE ORDER OF BUSINESS MAY BE CHANGED AT THE DISCRETION 
OF THE CHAIRMAN 

 
PUBLIC BUSINESS 
 
1.   CHAIRMAN'S INTRODUCTIONS 

 
 
 

2.   TO RECEIVE APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 
 

3.   SUBSTITUTES 
 

 
 

4.   MINUTES 
 

 
 

 The minutes of the Development Committee meeting held Thursday 14th 
November will be presented to the next Development Committee 
meeting.  
 

 

5.   ITEMS OF URGENT BUSINESS 
 

 
 

 (a)  To determine any other items of business which the Chairman 
decides should be   considered as a matter of urgency pursuant to 
Section 100B(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 1972.  

  
(b)  To consider any objections received to applications which the 

Head of Planning was authorised to determine at a previous 
meeting. 

 

 

6.   ORDER OF BUSINESS 
 

 
 

 (a)  To consider any requests to defer determination of an application 
included in this agenda, so as to save any unnecessary waiting by 
members of the public attending for such applications.  

  
(b)  To determine the order of business for the meeting. 
 

 

7.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

(Pages 1 - 6) 
 

 Members are asked at this stage to declare any interests that they may 
have in any of the following items on the agenda.  The Code of Conduct 
for Members requires that declarations include the nature of the interest 
and whether it is a disclosable pecuniary interest.  Members are 
requested to refer to the attached guidance and flowchart. 
 

 

OFFICERS' REPORTS 
 
8.   TATTERSETT - PO/23/1025: OUTLINE PLANNING APPLICATION 

(WITH ALL MATTERS RESERVED) FOR CREATION OF NEW FILM 
AND TV STUDIOS INCLUDING 5NO SOUND STAGES WITH 
ATTACHED COSTUME AND MAKE-UP FACILITIES, 8NO 
WORKSHOPS, 1NO PRODUCTION FACILITY BUILDINGS, 1NO 
ANCILLARY OFFICES, 1NO CONCESSION, FILM SCHOOL AND 
AMENITIES, 1NO GATEHOUSE, PARKING, LANDSCAPING AND 

(Pages 7 - 34) 
 



NEW VEHICULAR ACCESS OFF SCULTHORPE BOULEVARD 
 

9.   DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT PERFORMANCE UPDATE 
 

(Pages 35 - 38) 
 

10.   APPEALS SECTION 
 

(Pages 39 - 46) 
 

11.   PLANNING SERVICE IMPROVEMENT PLAN (PSIP) – LOCAL 
VALIDATION LIST 2024-2026 
 

(Pages 47 - 56) 
 

 Planning Service Improvement Plan (PSIP)  
– Local Validation List 2024-2026 
 

Executive 
Summary 

This report focusses on proposals for a new 
Local Validation list which sets out the range 
of documents required to be submitted with 
planning applications (over and above 
national requirements) in order to make them 
valid. 
 

Options considered 
 

Addressed – where appropriate – within the 
body of the text / appendices. 
 

Consultation(s) North Norfolk District Council held a public 
consultation between Wednesday 
16 October 2024, and Wednesday 27 
November 2024.  
 
Prior to that, internal consultation took place 
with Officers from within Planning and 
Environmental Health. 
 

Recommendations 
 

1. Committee is recommended to adopt 
the Local Validation list with some 
minor modifications as set out in the 
report.  

 
2. The new Local Validation List will 

come into effect on 01 January 2025 
with transitional arrangements as set 
out in this report.  

 

Reasons for 
recommendations 
 

To deliver the improvements sought by the 
Planning Service Improvement Plan (PSIP). 
 

Background papers 
 

Overviews and Scrutiny Committee Report 
from February 2023 on the PSIP 

 

Wards affected None 

Cabinet 
member(s) 

Cllr Andrew Brown 

Contact Officer Geoff Lyon, Development Manager, Tel: 01263 
516226 

 

 

12.   EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 

 
 



 To pass the following resolution, if necessary:-  
  
 “That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in Part I of Schedule 12A (as amended) to the 
Act.” 
 

 

PRIVATE BUSINESS 
 



   

Registering interests 

Within 28 days of becoming a member or your re-election or re-appointment to office you 
must register with the Monitoring Officer the interests which fall within the categories set out 
in Table 1 (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) which are as described in “The Relevant 
Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012”. You should also register  
details of your other personal interests which fall within the categories set out in Table 2 
(Other Registerable Interests). 

 “Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” means  an interest of yourself, or of your partner if you are 
aware of your partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in Table 1 below. 

"Partner" means a spouse or civil partner, or a person with whom you are living as husband 
or wife, or a person with whom you are living as if you are civil partners. 

1. You must ensure that your register of interests is kept up-to-date and within 28

days of becoming aware of any new interest, or of any change to a registered

interest, notify the Monitoring Officer.

2. A ‘sensitive interest’ is as an interest which, if disclosed, could lead to the

councillor, or a person connected with the councillor, being subject to violence

or intimidation.

3. Where you have a ‘sensitive interest’ you must notify the Monitoring Officer with

the reasons why you believe it is a sensitive interest. If the Monitoring Officer

agrees they will withhold the interest from the public register.

Non participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest 

4. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your Disclosable

Pecuniary Interests as set out in Table 1, you must disclose the interest, not

participate in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room

unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not

have to disclose the nature of the interest, just that you have an interest.

Dispensation may be granted in limited circumstances, to enable you to participate

and vote on a matter in which you have a disclosable pecuniary interest.

5. Where  you have a disclosable pecuniary interest on a matter to be considered or is
being considered by you as a Cabinet member in exercise of  your executive function,
you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest and must not take any steps or
further steps in the matter apart from arranging for someone else to deal with it

Disclosure of Other Registerable Interests 

6. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your Other

Registerable Interests (as set out in Table 2), you must disclose the interest. You

may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at

the meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter

and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it

is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest.

Page 1

Agenda Item 7



   

Disclosure of  Non-Registerable Interests 

7. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial interest

or well-being (and is not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest  set out in Table 1) or a

financial interest or well-being of a relative or close associate, you must disclose the

interest. You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed

to speak at the meeting. Otherwise you  must not take part in any discussion or vote

on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a

dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of

the interest.

8. Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects –

a. your own financial interest or well-being;

b. a financial interest or well-being of a  relative, close associate; or

c. a body included in those you need to disclose under Other Registrable

Interests  as set out in Table 2

you must disclose the interest. In order to determine whether you can remain in the 
meeting after disclosing your interest  the following test should be applied 

9. Where a matter affects your financial interest or well-being:

a. to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the majority of

inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision and;

b. a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe that it

would affect your view of the wider public interest

You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to 

speak at the meeting. Otherwise you  must not take part in any discussion or vote 

on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a 

dispensation. 

If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 

10. Where you have a personal interest in any business of your authority and you have
made an executive decision in relation to that business, you must make sure  that any
written statement of that decision records the existence and nature of your interest.

Page 2



    

Table 1: Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

This table sets out the explanation of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in the 

Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012. 

Subject Description 

Employment, office, trade, 
profession or vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, 
profession or vocation carried on for 
profit or gain. 

[Any unpaid directorship.] 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other 
financial benefit (other than from the 
council) made to the councillor during the 
previous 12-month period for expenses 
incurred by him/her in carrying out 
his/her duties as a councillor, or towards 
his/her election expenses. 
This includes any payment or financial 
benefit from a trade union within the 
meaning of the Trade Union and Labour 
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 

Contracts Any contract made between the 
councillor or his/her spouse or civil 
partner or the person with whom the 

Page 3

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made


councillor is living as if they were 
spouses/civil partners (or a firm in which 
such person is a partner, or an incorporated 
body of which such person is a director* or 
a body that such person has a beneficial 
interest in the securities of*) and the council 
— 

(a) under which goods or services are to be
provided or works are to be executed; and

(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land and Property Any beneficial interest in land which is 
within the area of the council. 
‘Land’ excludes an easement, servitude, 
interest or right in or over land which does 
not give the councillor or his/her spouse or 
civil partner or the person with whom the 
councillor is living as if they were spouses/ 
civil partners (alone or jointly with another) 
a right to occupy or to receive income. 

Licenses Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to 
occupy land in the area of the council for a 
month or longer 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to the councillor’s 
knowledge)— 

(a) the landlord is the council; and

(b) the tenant is a body that the councillor,
or his/her spouse or civil partner or the
person with whom the councillor is living as
if they were spouses/ civil partners is a
partner of or a director* of or has a
beneficial interest in the securities* of.

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities* of a 
body where— 

(a) that body (to the councillor’s
knowledge) has a place of business or
land in the area of the council; and

(b) either—

(i) ) the total nominal value of the
securities* exceeds £25,000 or one
hundredth of the total issued share
capital of that body; or

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of
more than one class, the total nominal
value of the shares of any one class in
which the councillor, or his/ her spouse or
civil partner or the person with whom the
councillor is living as if they were

Page 4



  

* ‘director’ includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and

provident society.

* ‘securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a

collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act

2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a building

society.

Table 2: Other Registrable Interests 

You have a personal interest in any business of your authority where it relates to or is 
likely to affect:  

a) any body of which you are in general control or management and to which you
are nominated or appointed by your authority

b) any body

(i) exercising functions of a public nature

(ii) any body directed to charitable purposes or

(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion
or policy (including any political party or trade union)

spouses/civil partners has a beneficial 
interest exceeds one hundredth of the 
total issued share capital of that class. 

Page 5



Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

Page 6



TATTERSETT – PO/23/1025: Outline Planning Application (with all matters 
reserved) for creation of new film and TV studios including 5no sound stages 
with attached costume and make-up facilities, 8no workshops, 1no production 
facility buildings, 1no ancillary offices, 1no concession, film school and 
amenities, 1no gatehouse, parking, landscaping and new vehicular access off 
Sculthorpe Boulevard 
 
 
Target Date: 25th August 2023 
Extension of Time: 20th December 2024 
Case Officer: Rob Arguile 
Outline planning application 
 
 
RELEVANT CONSTRAINTS 
 
Countryside LDF 
Airbase Technical Area LDF  
Employment Allocation (Policy E7) 
Landscape Character Assessment (Rolling Open Farmland) 
Nutrient Neutrality Foul Water Drainage (River Wensum)  
Nutrient Neutrality Surface Water (River Wensum) 
Areas Susceptible to Groundwater SFRA 
Contaminated Land 
Mineral Safeguarding Area 
 
 
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
PF/22/1561 (A) (17.10.2022) 
Change of use of building to film studio, with ancillary offices, costume room, hair and makeup 
room, onsite storage and parking areas 
 
PF/03/1716 (A) (21.11.2003) 
CHANGE OF USE TO WASTE TRANSFER STATION 
 
PF/00/0214 (A) (26.03.2001) 
ERECTION OF FACTORY AND OFFICES TOGETHER WITH ANCILLARY 
ACCOMMODATION 
 
PF/99/1019 (A) (29.11.1999) 
CHANGE OF USE OF BUILDING FROM USE WITHIN CLASS D2 (ASSEMBLY AND 
LEISURE) TO A MIXED USE WITHIN CLASSES B1 (LIGHT INDUSTRIAL) B2 (GENERAL 
INDUSTRIAL) AND B8 (STORAGE OR DISTRIBUTION), AND ERECTION OF 
POLYTUNNEL 
 
PF/99/0490 (W) (02.08.1999) 
CHANGE OF USE OF BUILDING FROM D2 TO B1/2 
 
PF/96/1450 (A) (03.06.1997) 
CHANGE OF USE OF EXISTING BUILDINGS TO INDUSTRIAL (B2), LEISURE AND 
SOCIAL/COMMUNITY USES AND PROVISION OF ROUNDABOUT ON THE B1454 
 
GF/89/1559 (AG) (08.09.1989) 

Page 7

Agenda Item 8



DEMOLISH EXISTING SECURITY POLICE GATE HOUSE & CONSTRUCT NEW ONE ON 
SAME SITE 
 
 
THE APPLICATION: 
 
The application seeks outline planning permission with all matters reserved for the for creation 
of new film and TV studios including 5no sound stages with attached costume and make-up 
facilities, 8no workshops, 1no production facility buildings, 1no ancillary offices, 1no 
concession, film school and amenities, 1no gatehouse, parking, landscaping and new 
vehicular access off Sculthorpe Boulevard 
 
 
REASONS FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE:  
 
The application has been called in by the Director for Place and Change (Martyn Fulcher) in 
view of the scale of the application and the issues that have been raised during the process 
of considering it. 
 
 
PARISH COUNCIL:  
 
Tattersett Parish Council - Objection 
 
Tattersett Parish Council members have unanimously agreed to object to the Tattersett 
Business Park planning application. Although not against development of the area in general, 
feel that there are too many uncertainties and unanswered questions related to this 
application. Concerned that there is no guarantee that the tyre mountain will be removed and 
would need to be confident that complete removal of the tyres is an enforceable condition of 
any planning permission. The applicant’s history of bankruptcies, County Court Judgements 
and ignoring planning decisions means we can have little confidence that the project in its 
current form will be handled properly and compliantly.  Also feel that planning permission 
cannot be granted without funding for the project being in place. The PC would also need to 
be confident that the 9 point plan given to the applicant will be adhered to in order to consider 
approving the planning application. 
 
 
CONSULTATIONS: 
 
National Gas – No Objections as there are no National Gas Transmission assets in this area. 
 
Norfolk Fire and Rescue Service – Comments 
 

 With reference to the proposed commercial development, based on the location and 
infrastructure already in place, require fire hydrants to be installed, in locations agreed by 
Norfolk Fire Rescue Service to ensure adequate firefighting water provision. The fire 
hydrants shall conform to BS750 and should provide a minimum sustained outlet 
discharge in line with the 'National guidance document on the provision of water for 
firefighting' published by Water UK. 

 

 A minimum requirement for commercial/industrial development would normally be fire 
hydrants on no less than a 125mm main. This is subject to clarification of the type, size 
and use of the commercial premises. To comply with Building Regulations all commercial 
buildings, with any single compartment of more than 280m2, should have a hydrant 
provided, if there is not existing provision within 100m of the building. Hydrant(s) should 

Page 8



be located within a vehicular travel distance of 90 metres from the entry points of buildings 
or the inlet point of a Dry Riser where required. 

 

 The developer is responsible for ensuring sufficient hydrants are installed, in compliance 
with water regulations and Building Regulations Approved Document B Volume 2 sections 
15 & 16 (Fire Hydrants/Water Supplies and Vehicle Access) with reference to the 'National 
guidance document on the provision of water for firefighting' published by Water UK. All 
proposed hydrant provision should be to the satisfaction of the Norfolk Fire and Rescue 
Service. All expenses incurred shall be borne by the developer, owner or occupier of the 
commercial entity. 

 
Norfolk Constabulary Designing Out Crime Officer – Comments 
 

 The area of Tattersett, and the wider neighbourhood area of Fakenham does not currently 
suffer with high levels of crime and disorder however do still see instances of anti-social 
behaviour, criminal damage, burglary, vehicle crime present in the last 12 months. In order 
to maintain these low crime statistics, it is imperative that all new developments for this 
area display crime prevention strategies through their environmental design as an 
approach to deter criminal behaviour. 

 

 Note that there is an intention to provide a gatehouse for security at one of the proposed 
entrances – this is supported. Consideration should be given to the security of the site for 
overall public access, specifically consideration of a fencing and access control gates. The 
demarcation between what is public space, and the private area of this commercial site is 
important. This will prevent casual intrusion by trespassers, provide safety for employees, 
prevent intrusion onto the site by criminals and reduce whole removal of property from the 
site by thieves. Recommend the use of steel security fencing and should be galvanised to 
BS EN ISO 1461:2009 and or stainless steel with a service life in excess of 25 years. 
Cannot see from the information provided on the planning portal any details on perimeter 
security and physical security measures or access control. 

 

 There are two access points into the grounds of the proposed development. Ideally this 
would be providing a one-way system for vehicles. There should be clear demarcation 
between the roadway and the footway and a safety barrier between the two may be 
necessary to protect the two from large vehicles/plant. Entrance gates should be inward 
opening, of substantial framed construction and employ galvanized adjustable hinges and 
fixings mounted behind the attack face. Gates should be fitted with drop bolts and a facility 
of padlocking (manual gates) or electro-mechanical locking (automated gates). The gates 
should be of the same height, material and construction of the perimeter fencing they are 
attached to. 

 

 Cannot see from the information provided any details on lighting at this stage, however the 
lighting of common areas to aid formal and informal surveillance is recommended and 
recommended to comply with BS5489-1:2020. Lighting design should be coordinated with 
any CCTV installation and the landscape to avoid any conflicts and to ensure that the 
lighting is sufficient to support a CCTV system. The lighting scheme should provide 
uniformed lighting levels with good colour rendition and be sufficient to cater for lawful after 
dark activity around the units and the site. 

 

 Identifiable parking for staff should be provided in view of occupied offices and where 
possible, identified visitor parking should be similarly located. CCTV coverage is 
recommended to support surveillance of the parking facilities. 

 

Page 9



 The parking facilities themselves is strongly recommended to be built to Park Mark 
standards, please see Park Mark's Safer Parking Scheme (britishparking.co.uk) for more 
information. Signage: Commercial building reception entrances and car park(s) should be 
clearly signposted from entrances onto the site, likewise signs that identify areas that are 
not open to public access act as a reminder that unauthorised persons should be 
challenged. 

 

 Waste containers, particularly those with wheels, can be used for climbing and the 
contents used to start fires. Consideration should be given to using waste containers with 
lockable lids. Additionally, they should be kept inside a secure, externally accessed store, 
or roofed compound located well away from the buildings. Where roller shutter doors are 
providing access for deliveries and other apertures where no other door is present, I 
recommend that they are certified to a minimum of: LPS 1175 Issues 7, Security Rating 2, 
STS 202 Burglary Resistance 2 or Sold Secure Gold. The external door set apertures and 
windows should conform to either PAS 24:2022, LPS 1175: Issue 7 SR2 or STS 201 / STS 
202 Issue 3 BR 2. Additional security may be gained by utilising additional protection such 
as a certified roller shutter or grille or through a door set certified to higher security 
standards. There are door sets which are security rated, fire and smoke related which 
would be most advantageous in this setting. 

 

 Recommend for all glazing to include one pane of attack resistance glass to a minimum 
thickness of 6.4mm successfully tested to BS EN 356:2000 P1A Glass in building Security 
glazing (unless the glass is to be protected by a roller shutter). Bicycle parking facilities 
are recommended to be located adjacent to the primary building entrance and in view of 
active rooms and certified to Sold Secure SS104 SR Silver, LPS 1175 Issue 8:2018 SR B 
or equivalent standard. It is recommended that any video surveillance systems installed 
cover the cycle parking area. 

 

 The correct security measures need to be put in place to ensure that this development is 
a safe environment. If the applicant was not prepared to incorporate the recommendations 
and standards suggested in this document, Norfolk Constabulary would unfortunately not 
be able to support this application. 

 
Planning Obligations Co-ordinator (NCC) - No further comments to make other than those 
submitted by the Norfolk Fire and Rescue Service 
 
Natural England – Comments 
 

 Natural England is not able to provide specific advice on this application and therefore has 
no comment to make on its details. Although we have not been able to assess the potential 
impacts of this proposal on statutory nature conservation sites or protected landscapes, 
we offer the further advice and references to Standing Advice. 

 

 The Nutrient Neutrality methodology can be applied to developments that result in a net 
increase in overnight accommodation, including new homes, student accommodation and 
tourist accommodation. As detailed in section 4 of Natural England’s overarching advice 
letter dated 16 March 2022, for other types of developments (such as PO/23/1025), 
consideration should be given to the status (e.g. living in catchment or visitor from outside 
the catchment) of those using the facilities to determine if the methodology applies. 
 

 Your authority’s ecologist has provided comments on the proposal, concluding that there 
is not enough information to determine nutrient impacts on the European sites in question. 
This is based on a significant number of car parking spaces the proposed development 
will provide, and a lack of information on whether the people using/working at the facility 

Page 10



live inside or outside the nutrient neutrality catchment area. Natural England advise that 
further information is requested to determine this impact. 
 

 In accordance with regulation 63 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
2017 (as amended), your authority should determine whether the proposal is likely to have 
a significant effect on any European site, proceeding to the Appropriate Assessment stage 
where significant effects cannot be ruled out. Natural England must be consulted on any 
appropriate assessment your authority may decide to make. 

 
Environmental Protection (NNDC) – Objection 
 

 The noise assessment is insufficient to alleviate concerns that the proposed development 
will not have a detrimental impact on the amenity at nearby residential dwellings.  In fact, 
it’s not even a noise assessment as it doesn’t follow the methodology within BS4142 (as 
revised) sufficiently and consequently, it would appear this is more a piece of promotional 
material for the financiers that the buildings will be suitable sound stages/recording 
studios.  I would strongly urge that the information within the report cannot be relied upon 
by our Planning Service for making any decisions on the likely impacts of the proposal at 
nearby residential properties.  

  

 In situations like this, it would be common and reasonable for an acoustician to use data 
from another site which has the same planning use/same noise-making activities – it 
maybe that they can make a comparison with a similar site or site they have previously 
assessed.  Alternatively, contact the company directly and organise an assessment at one 
of their current sites elsewhere. The author of the report is too focused on the noise from 
the aircraft and potential impact upon the activities of the 
applicant/business/organisation.  I appreciate that insulating a building to a standard to 
minimise intrusion from external aircraft internally will derive some benefits to residents, 
however, the report is too simplistic.  

 

 Looking at the background, background noise is clearly lower at the weekend and any 
robust assessment needs to consider this or look at some weekend/bank holiday 
restrictions. NB:  Although the methodology of BS4142 provides a prescribed format for 
assessing noise, it is not the law, and local authorities use reports to inform them of the 
acoustic nature of the site(s) and activities.  Where background noise is exceptionally low, 
BS4142 does provide a figure (30dB), however, if there are noise sensitive receptors 
nearby and the difference between background and the noise source at receptor location 
is likely to give rise to amenity loss (or a potential Stat Nuisance), we can require further, 
and more robust measures are taken to reduce that noise impact to acceptable levels.  

 

 Plant noise is just one of the many potential noise sources that could arise on the 
application site.  I disagree with Section 5.2, paragraph 2 where the author of the report 
refers to several noise, odour and dust making activities but does not consider assessing 
any individual or accumulative impacts of these.  These noise sources remain largely 
undefined.  In particular, noise break out would also appear to create some directional 
noise towards nearby residential properties.  There has been no consideration of an 
acoustic lobby/entrance to the units and there is very limited information provided 
regarding the soundstage.  It is critical that full details are provided regarding any sound 
reduction measures (such as the soundstage) they are intending to use, otherwise these 
cannot be included – the purpose of the report is to recommend certain sound reduction 
targets and potential products/materials to achieve those targets, where they are to be 
located, the height and other specifications, etc 

 

Page 11



 External noise sources have not been provided, including vehicle movement, reversing, 
storage of stage materials, loading and unloading, erecting and dismantling activities and 
where this could happen on site.  Additionally, the author has referred to machinery and 
equipment being used on site which is moveable.  A better plan of the site to illustrate each 
building and area where activities will be taking place is recommended.  It would be 
reasonable to include a colour-coded noise landscape diagram to show where the 
problematic areas would be so that accumulative impacts can be considered and for other 
sound reduction measures to be considered also.  As the noise sources have remained 
largely undefined, there is no consideration of the acoustic characteristics of different noise 
sources which could attract penalties under BS4142 and the figure which has been 
provided should be treated with caution.  Additionally, the report refers to the topography 
of the site in the introduction, but it is not mentioned anywhere else within the report.  

 

 Hours (hours of use) are not featured within the report.  Would expect to see a vast amount 
of more detail on the use of the site and noise making sources during night time hours.  The 
accumulative impact of the various internal and external noise sources have not been 
identified, fully assessed nor mitigated as appropriate.  All-in-all, the report states that 
certain levels will be achievable but there is no methodology to underpin and support this 
assumption. 

 

 In relation to the contamination and ordnance reports, the contents of these are deemed 
acceptable, however stage two of both of these reports will be required in the event of an 
approval being issued. Both of these will be required prior to the commencement of the 
development. 
 

Historic England – No Objection 
 

 The application site lies c.500m northeast of the scheduled monument ‘Bowl barrow in 
Wicken Covert, 100m south east of Highfield House’ (List Entry Number 1020783). 
Considered that the proposed development would not have a major impact on the setting 
of the scheduled monument or result harm to its significance. Suggest that you seek the 
views of your specialist conservation and archaeological advisers. 
 

Ministry of Defence Infrastructure Organisation (MoD) - No Objection 
 
Public Rights of Way and Green Infrastructure (NCC) - No Objection 
 
Economic and Tourism Development Manager (NNDC) - No Objection 
 
Landscape Officer (Ecology) (NNDC) - Comments 
 

 The application is supported by an Ecology Report prepared by Wild Frontier Ecology  
(October 2022). A summary of the findings include: the report built upon studies 
undertaken in 2018 for a larger area, one SSSI (Syderstone Common SSSI) and four CWS 
were identified within 2km of the site, no direct impacts upon these sites were expected 
ponds within 250m of the site were all found to be dry and no impacts are foreseen upon 
GCN, a ‘Good’ population of common lizard (peak count 27 individuals) was recorded at 
the site which will require translocation to a receptor site to facilitate the development, on- 
and off-site habitat compensation and enhancements will be required to minimise impacts 
upon Red and Amber listed birds of conservation concern, including linnet, whitethroat and 
dunnock, no impacts upon roosting bats are foreseen, though mitigation is required with 
regards to foraging bats, impacts upon other species which may use the site (including 
toads, hedgehog, badger and brown hare) will also be mitigated for through implementing 
precautionary measures during construction, a Construction Environmental Management 

Page 12



Plan (CEMP) is recommended, the development would lead to an overall loss of 21.2% 
habitat units based on calculations using Defra’s Biodiversity Metric 3.1. Offsite habitat 
creation to the south and east of the site and on-site enhancements would achieve an 
overall 17.3% net gain and details are recommended to be secured through a Biodiversity 
Enhancement Strategy (BES). 

 

 The Landscape section is satisfied with the survey work undertaken to inform the impact  
assessment and the subsequent recommendations which have been made. The 
Landscape section agree with the Norfolk Wildlife Trust comments (dated 29 June 2023) 
in that impacts upon natterjack toad could not be explicitly ruled out during the construction 
phase of the development. However, given the distance of the site to Syderstone Common 
SSSI (where the main population is present), sub-optimal habitats present between the 
SSSI and application site, and lack of individuals being found using refugia during the 
reptile surveys, there is only a very low chance of natterjack toad being present at the site. 
The site itself would not be considered of particular importance to the species due to its 
specialist habitat requirements. Additionally, measures to be implemented as part of the 
recommended CEMP would safeguard transient individuals against harm during the 
construction phase. 

 

 Survey data is stated as being valid for one year (i.e. up to June 2023) with regards to 
habitats, breeding birds and reptiles. Update surveys for these species would therefore 
need to be carried out in support of a Reserved Matters application in the event the Outline  
application is approved. In principle, the Landscape section holds no objection to the 
proposed development on ecological grounds although further work would be required at 
the Reserved Matters stage to ensure ecological receptors are fully mitigated for. With 
implementation of the mitigation and enhancements recommended in the report, the 
Landscape section consider the proposed development would be in accordance with 
Policy EN 9 of the adopted North Norfolk Core Strategy and paragraph 174 of the NPPF. 

 

 Whilst the proposed development is not residential, it would potentially lead to a significant 
number of people moving into the catchment area for work (either temporarily or 
permanently). Given the sites location at the edge of the River Wensum SAC catchment 
area, and that foul water would discharge through Sculthorpe-RAF Camp Wastewater 
Treatment Works, nutrient impacts cannot therefore be ruled out.  

 

 The submitted Transport Statement notes the car parks will cater for up to 672 cars and 
that c.350 staff would be expected to be working at the site during a peak operational 
period. A significant proportion of the staff and visitors to the site may be travelling from 
outside of the catchment and therefore their nutrient contributions are not accounted for 
through their place of residence. Therefore, it is feasible there would be a significant 
increase in nutrient loads in association with the proposed development from people 
moving into the catchment area. 

 

 Further information is required to either demonstrate there would be no increase in nutrient 
loads or to calculate the increase in nutrient loads which may arise as a result of the 
proposed development. As the Broads Calculator (supplied by Natural England) and 
Norfolk Calculator (produced by Royal Haskoning on behalf of Norfolk Authorities) are only 
designed to calculate loads for developments with a net increase in overnight 
accommodation, it may be appropriate for the applicant to engage with Natural England 
through their Discretionary Advice Service (DAS) to determine the information required to 
calculate nutrient loads for the proposed development, and how it can be obtained using 
scientifically robust methods. 

 
 

Page 13



Landscape Officer (Trees) (NNDC) – Comments 
 

 An arboricultural appraisal has been undertaken by Oakfield Arboricultural Services. Oak, 
maple, birch, whitebeam, Robinia cherry, aspen, ash and cypress along with veteran oak 
trees T23, 24 & 25 have been recorded on site. The species mix is consistent with other 
local air bases. The illustrated lagoons appear to conflict with groups of trees along 
Sculthorpe Blvd, the tree survey only captures vague group information suggesting trees 
are of poor quality or of no significance. There is opportunity to retain more established 
trees on the scheme by setting the water features further into the site.  

 

 The general car park area represents a significant increase in hardstanding, situated 
around Peachtree Avenue the information on group 11, poplar, is also lacking in detail with 
no information on trees situated internally to the group that would require removal. A 
scheme of landscape improvements is illustrated in the design and access statement, a 
full landscape proposal would be required with any application. 

 
King's Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council (KLWNBC) - No Objection 
 

 The application site lies within the village of Tattersett, in North Norfolk. The plot is located 
adjacent the West Norfolk and Kings Lynn Borough. The site is within land which was 
formally used by RAF Sculthorpe and the US Airforce up until 1992 and has since been 
unused. The plot is surrounded by other commercial and industrial uses accessed via the 
B1454. The application seeks outline planning permission with all matters reserved, 
therefore, only the principle of development can be considered. As a similar approval has 
been granted recently within Tattersett, it is considered that the proposed use would be 
acceptable subject to other issues being considered such as, the impact on residential 
amenity, scale, design and layout, access and screening under the reserved matters 
application.  

 

 Although, the site is positioned around 1km away from the boundary of Kings Lynn and 
West Norfolk, the proposal is not considered to have a detrimental impact on the visual 
appearance of the area or impact the nearest residential properties, subject to sufficient 
screening being provided. It is considered the proposed development would not have any 
significant adverse impact on the visual amenity within BCKLWN boundary. In addition, no 
nearby neighbours within BCKLWN boundary would experience any significant impacts 
from the development. 

 
Climate and Environmental Policy (NNDC) - No response received (at time of writing). 
 
Minerals and Waste Authority (NCC) - No objection subject to condition requiring a 
Mineral Management Plan to include details such as methodology for a site investigation, 
extent of on-site use of extracted materials and annual report on request of NNC on amounts 
used. 

 
Highways Authority (NCC) – No Objection - Following the change of application description 
to “all matters reserved”, have indicated verbally that they have no objection, but formal 
response still awaited. 
 
Lead Local Flood Authority (NCC) - No Objection subject to conditions. 

 
Anglian Water - No response received (at time of writing). 
 
Norfolk Wildlife Trust - Comments 

Page 14



 The proposal is close to Norfolk Wildlife Trust’s Syderstone Common nature reserve, 
which forms part of the Syderstone Common Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). 
Syderstone Common SSSI and NWT nature reserve, a grass heath with ephemeral ponds 
and woodland, is one of the few examples of inland sites for natterjack toad, a species 
protected under the Habitats Regulations. As a European Protected Species, the presence 
or absence of natterjack toads on the application site is an important consideration. 

 

 Whilst we have no objections to the proposal in principle, the natterjack toad population of 
Syderstone Common often disperses over quite large distances post-breeding or when 
the pools on the Common are dry, as at present. They would be potentially vulnerable to 
impacts during the construction phase, should consent be granted, for example whilst 
taking advantage of any piles of construction materials or aggregates. We therefore 
disagree with the conclusion in section 6.10 of the ecology report, which states that ‘it is 
unlikely that the species will be present within the proposal site’, and recommend that, 
should outline consent be granted, that assessment of the potential for impact on 
natterjack toads is covered thoroughly in any following reserved matters application. 

 
Royal Society For Protection of Birds (RSPB) – Comments 
 

 RSPB has provided comments previously in 2011 in relation to a proposal for a glider 
school at Sculthorpe and general comments in 2009 linked to the North Norfolk Local 
Development Framework – Site Specific Proposals Draft Plan. In both these submissions 
the focus of our comments was on the potential impact on stone curlew, which breed in 
the grounds of the current military training area. 

 

 As presented the Ecology Report is a well-constructed and balanced document and RSPB 
has no comments to make regarding the actual impact on the proposed development site. 
However, there are statements regarding the impact on stone curlews using the adjacent 
airfield and potentially arable fields which are incorrect and made without supporting 
evidence. Stone-curlews are a rare breeding pair in the UK and Sculthorpe airfield holds 
around 2% of the national breeding population. Species listed on Annex I of the Birds 
Directive (such as stone curlew) where they occur outside designated sites, Regulation 
10(8) of the UK’s Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) 
requires competent authorities, in exercising their functions, to use all reasonable 
endeavours to avoid any pollution or deterioration of habitats of wild birds. 

 

 Sculthorpe airfield has in the past held up to 12 breeding pairs of stone-curlews, though in 
recent years the number has been around 7 pairs. Nest sites have been distributed 
throughout the airfield including within 600m of the development site. Additionally in most 
years there is a post breeding roost which remains until late October/November. This has 
held up to 100 birds. Considering the proximity of nesting stone-curlews to the proposed 
development at the airfield there may also be stone-curlews on the surrounding arable 
land, but RSPB have not carried out any monitoring in this area. We would therefore expect 
the developer to carry out stone-curlew surveys on any suitable habitat (outside the 
airfield) within 1500m of the development site. As the suitability of arable nesting habitat 
for stone-curlews varies year to year due to crop rotations we would recommend the 
survey should include three successive breeding seasons to adequately assess stone-
curlew distribution in the area. 

 

 As the airfield is a military training area and is fenced, we assume people working on or 
visiting the film studios would not be able to gain access to the airfield, but RSPB requires 
confirmation of this. We also suggest staff and visitors are made aware of the potential for 
disturbance created if people were to walk up to and stand by the fence. General 
disturbance, including human disturbance and noise is normally considered an issue under 

Page 15



500m so should not impact the birds on the airfield if people stay on the site. Built 
development has an impact up to 1500m. The Ecology Report suggests this not an issue 
as the development will be non-residential. • Whilst it is true that non-residential buildings 
tend to cause less disturbance than residential buildings, the developers still need to 
assess the possible disturbance factors caused by the development such as human 
disturbance, noise, light and predation. The developer should assess likely changes in 
traffic on adjacent roads resulting from the proposal and how this may impact stone curlew. 

 

 On Page 40 under section 6.1.1 the report states ‘A population of stone curlews (Schedule 
1 of the WCA, 1981) is known to breed within RAF Sculthorpe Air Base approximately 
450m to the east of the proposal site at the nearest point. There is not expected to be any 
additional disturbance to this population because of construction or 
operational/recreational impacts due to separation distances and the fact that the 
development is not residential. There is already a considerable disturbance baseline within 
the airbase due to regular military exercises involving multiple aircraft and ground troops 
and any additional disturbance attributable to the Film Studio proposal would be negligible 
in comparison.’ 

 

 Have agreed above that the distance between the development site and RAF Sculthorpe 
should prevent certain types of disturbance from within the site, but if there are sources of 
disturbance that extend beyond 500m (e.g. – increases in off-site human disturbance, light 
pollution, increased predation) then these would be additional to existing disturbance from 
military training and may have a cumulative effect. 

 
Conservation and Design (NNDC) – No Objection 
 

 Although not containing any listed buildings or covered by any formal heritage 
designations, the site in question forms part of the much wider former RAF Sculthorpe site. 
This was once one of the largest and strategically most important American airbases in 
the country before closing in 1992. It therefore offers real historic, social and communal 
interest and is thus very much valued by military historians and locals alike. The base and 
the structures therein must therefore be considered non-designated heritage assets – para 
203 of the NPPF is therefore engaged. 

 

 Before considering the development’s impact upon these heritage interests, it is firstly 
worth confirming for the record that the proposals would not directly or indirectly affect the 
nearest designated heritage assets; namely the scheduled funerary bowl barrow which 
lies near the junction of Sculthorpe Boulevard and the B1454, and the Tattersett 
Conservation Area which is located some 800m south of the main body of the application 
site. Returning to the submission in hand, it is in outline form with only access to be 
considered at this stage. Consequently, Conservation & Design comments hereunder 
must remain general in nature and focus on the wider overarching impacts of the use and 
buildings rather than their siting and detailed design. 

 

 So, in terms of principle, the development would be situated towards the western edge of 
the base where it would be away from the main operational and residential areas. This 
means that the previous concern about the development possibly severing the connection 
between the airside and landside parts of the base is no longer quite so relevant, Indeed, 
with the red line having been contracted back from the earlier pre-app, the site now only 
covers the ancillary and peripheral areas of the base (including a former baseball pitch). It 
is therefore considered that the impact of the development would be diversionary rather 
than consequential. 

 

Page 16



 In offering this comment, it certainly cannot be said that the scheme would have no impact 
upon the base. Rather, by virtue of its scale and cumulative impact, it would undoubtedly 
have an effect upon our collective understanding and appreciation of how the base 
previously functioned. What can, however, be said is that this impact would not drive at 
the heart of what makes the base significant. Instead, it would be more of a tangential 
aside which might distract but which would ultimately not eclipse. Therefore, whilst there 
would inevitably be some harm caused to the non-designated heritage(s), it would be of a 
comparatively modest level and would presumably be more than offset in the overall 
planning balance. As a result, there can be no sustainable Conservation and Design 
objections to this application. 

 
 
REPRESENTATIONS:  
Six representations have been made objecting to the proposal on the following summarised 
grounds: 
 
• No assurance that the tyres piles owned by the applicant will be removed 
• Enforcement of the tyre piles not adhered to 
• Impact upon the open nature of the site and wildlife that use it 
• Potential to uncover asbestos on site and health impacts 
• No adherence to the ‘Nine Point Plan’ 
• Abandoned baseball field and tennis court could be restored 
• Light pollution from vehicles and buildings, more prominent on the nocturnal character of 

the area 
• Noise from equipment and buildings out of standard working hours 
• Potential impact of contamination on site and within existing buildings 
• Impact upon trees onsite in relation to their potential to support biodiversity, namely Oak  
• Increase levels of traffic using the site and poor highway infrastructure resulting in potential 

dangers 
• Impact upon sewerage system and disruption during construction 
 
 
HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS 
It is considered that the proposed development may raise issues relevant to 
Article 8: The Right to respect for private and family life. 
Article 1 of the First Protocol: The right to peaceful enjoyment of possessions. 
 
Having considered the likely impact on an individual's Human Rights, and the general interest 
of the public, refusal of this application as recommended is considered to be justified, 
proportionate and in accordance with planning law. 
 
CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 1998 - SECTION 17 
The application raises no significant crime and disorder issues. 
 
LOCAL FINANCE CONSIDERATIONS 
Under Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 the council is required when 
determining planning applications to have regard to any local finance considerations, so far 
as material to the application. Local finance considerations are not considered to be material 
to this case. 
 
 
RELEVANT POLICIES 
 
North Norfolk Core Strategy (September 2008): 
Policy SS 1 - Spatial Strategy for North Norfolk 

Page 17



Policy SS 2 - Development in the Countryside 
Policy SS 4 - Environment 
Policy SS 5 - Economy 
Policy SS 6 - Access and Infrastructure 
Policy EC 4 - Redundant Defence Establishments 
Policy EN 2 - Protection and Enhancement of Landscape and Settlement Character 
Policy EN 4 - Design 
Policy EN 9 - Biodiversity & Geology 
Policy EN 13 - Pollution and Hazard Prevention and Minimisation 
Policy CT 5 - The Transport Impact of New Development 
Policy CT 6 - Parking Provision 
 
Site Allocations Development Plan Document (Feb 2011) 
Policy E7 – Land at Tattersett Business Park 
 
Minerals and Waste Development Framework - Core Strategy and Minerals and Waste 
Development Management Policies Development Plan Document 2010-2026 
Policy CS16 (Safeguarding mineral and waste sites and mineral resources) 
 
Material Considerations 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (December 2023): 
Section 2 - Achieving sustainable development 
Section 4 - Decision making 
Section 6 - Building a strong, competitive economy 
Section 8 - Promoting healthy and safe communities 
Section 9 - Promoting sustainable transport 
Section 12 - Achieving well-designed places and beautiful places 
Section 14 - Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
Section 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
Section 16 - Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 
 
North Norfolk Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document (December 2008) 
 
North Norfolk Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (November 2017) 
 
 
MAIN ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION 
  
1. Principle of Development 
2. Design and Appearance  
3. Heritage 
4. Landscape 
5. Ecology 
6. Environment and Pollution 
7. Highways 
 
 
APPRAISAL 
 
1. Principle of Development: 
 
The proposal seeks outline permission for the creation of new film and TV studios including 
5no sound stages with attached costume and make-up facilities, 8no workshops, 1no 
production facility buildings, 1no ancillary offices, 1no concession, film school and amenities, 

Page 18



1no gatehouse, parking, landscaping and new vehicular access off Sculthorpe Boulevard with 
all matters reserved. 
 
The rational for the proposal as stated by the applicant is to help with a high demand for 
facilities that have arisen with the film and TV industry since the pandemic. This proposal 
seeks to create a local base for productions, in order to address this need and the retention 
of the industry within the UK. It is stated that over half of the industry is located within London 
and the South East. This proposal seeks to capitalise on local skills and filming locations which 
are needed to address a high growth in this sector and the backlog caused by the hiatus of 
productions during the pandemic. Given the high level of employment and specialist labour 
required, the proposal seeks to train, employ and retain these workers within North Norfolk. 
 
The site lies within Tattersett Business Park, which once formed land as part of RAF 
Sculthorpe. The site lies within designated ‘Countryside’ as set out by Policy SS 1 of the 
adopted North Norfolk Core Strategy. Policy SS 2 of the Core Strategy sets out the types of 
development which are permitted in Countryside locations. This includes new-build 
employment generating proposals where there is particular environmental or operational 
justification.  
 
Policy EC 4 sets out that: 
 

“Development proposals on the former defence establishments will allow for re-use of 
existing buildings or development of replacement buildings within the defined 'technical 
areas’ provided that there is no overall increase in gross floor space of the existing 
permanent buildings. All proposals should seek to protect the surrounding environment 
and ensure no degradation of the site itself. Owing to the proximity of the River 
Wensum Special Area of Conservation (SAC) development at Tattersett Business 
Park (Sculthorpe Airbase) must demonstrate, as a minimum, no net negative impact 
on the environment and nature conservation 
 
… 
 
New build employment generating proposals will be permitted in the areas designated 
as Countryside where there is particular environmental or operational justification.. 
 
On the technical area at Sculthorpe Airbase new employment development may be 
permitted, subject to the removal of an equal amount of floor space represented by the 
former barrack blocks and other unsightly buildings in the open area X as identified on 
the Proposals Map”. 

 
Policy EC 4’s supporting text states that ‘Sculthorpe Airbase, being the best located in relation 
to the highway network, is considered to offer opportunities for employment uses which would 
for environmental or operational reasons not be acceptable on employment sites in the towns’. 
However, it is stipulated that the proposal ‘should facilitate removal of unsightly buildings, 
including the former barrack blocks’.  
 
Under Policy EC 4, the proposal site occupies 17% of the ‘Airbase Technical Area LDF’ 
constraint area. Policy EC 4 allows for the replacement of existing buildings on site and also 
re-use of existing buildings, providing in either case there is no overall increase in gross floor 
space of the existing permanent buildings. The site area of the proposal includes two existing 
buildings within the enclosed tree area, which are currently used by AKS Auto Services. These 
buildings remain unchanged as part of the proposal and will not increase their gross floor 
space.  
 
 

Page 19



Under Policy SS 5, a range of sites and premises will be made available for employment 
development, through designation of existing employment sites in all Principal Settlements, 
Secondary Settlements and some Service Villages and Coastal Service Villages and the 
allocation of new sites in order to increase the choice of sites available and to address the 
self-containment of settlements in terms of homes/jobs balance.  
 
The proposal is covered by a section of the Site Allocation Development Plan Document 
‘Policy E7’ and a section of the ‘Airbase Technical Area LDF’. Policy E7 sets out that: 
 
“…Development will be subject to compliance with adopted Core Strategy policies and: 
 

a) prior approval of a Master Plan providing for landscaping of the whole of the designated 
area, phasing of development, access arrangements, and removal of stored tyres from 
the site; 

b) each new build proposal resulting in the removal of an equivalent amount of floor space 
contained within the now derelict former barrack blocks on the adjacent site; 

c) development being restricted to employment generating proposals in the B1, B2, B8 
and sui generis classes of the Town and Country Planning Use Classes Order where 
it can be demonstrated that the proposal is incapable of being accommodated on other 
designated employment land in the District for either environmental or operational 
reasons; and, 

d) there should be no development unless there has been clear demonstration that 
proposals will result in no adverse impacts on protected wildlife”. 

 
In considering the above, it is worth noting that the proposal only covers 30% of the Site 
Allocation Policy E 7 site. The site boundary of the application does not include any of the 
buildings on Army Road, nor Sculthorpe Boulevard, of which the other 70% of the site 
allocation refers too. Therefore, in this instance and coupled with the granting of other 
employment generating applications on this site, Officers consider that a master plan is not 
required prior to the determination of this application but would be required for the remainder 
of the site. 
 
Notwithstanding this the applicant has removed (at the time of writing) approximately a third 
of the tyres on the Business Park, which the policy does make reference to specifically. 
Negotiations to remove the remainder of the tyres are still ongoing. 
 
In terms of national guidance, paragraph 85 of the NPPF (Dec 2023) states that:  
 

‘decisions should help create the conditions in which businesses can invest, expand 
and adapt. Significant weight should be placed on the need to support economic 
growth and productivity, taking into account both local business needs and wider 
opportunities for development’.  

 
Paragraph 89 of the NPPF is also considered relevant which states that: 
 

‘decisions should recognise that sites to meet local business and community needs in 
rural areas may have to be found adjacent to or beyond existing settlements, and in 
locations that are not well served by public transport. In these circumstances it will be 
important to ensure that development is sensitive to its surroundings, does not have 
an unacceptable impact on local roads and exploits any opportunities to make a 
location more sustainable (for example by improving the scope for access on foot, by 
cycling or by public transport). The use of previously developed land, and sites that are 
physically well-related to existing settlements, should be encouraged where suitable 
opportunities exist’. 

 

Page 20



As this is an outline application with all matters reserved, there are only limited details in terms 
of floor space. Most notably three of the buildings within the site plan do not include 
measurements, save for an approximate footprint. The full details in terms of floor space within 
each building will be provided during a reserved matters application, subject to an approval at 
outline.  
 
The proposal is seeking construction of a sui generis use, as it is a grouping of various use 
classes combined for the single outline permission. Since the publication of the Core Strategy, 
the Use Class Order has been updated to incorporate elements of the B1 and B2 Use Class 
into Use Class E(g) which primarily includes:  
 

(i) an office to carry out any operational or administrative functions, 
(ii) the research and development of products or processes, or 
(iii) any industrial process, being a use, which can be carried out in any residential area 
without detriment to the amenity of that area by reason of noise, vibration, smell, 
fumes, smoke, soot, ash, dust or grit. 

 
Whilst the basic principle of new employment generating development is supported on the 
site, both Core Strategy Policy EC 4 and Site Allocations Development Plan Document Policy 
E7 provide support for development only on the basis of the removal of the equivalent amount 
of floor space within the now derelict former barrack blocks on the adjacent site. The applicant 
has not proposed removal of the barrack blocks and the proposal would therefore lead to an 
increase of new floor space amounting to four times that of the footprint of the barracks 
opposite the site. The proposal therefore represents a significant departure from Development 
Plan Policies EC 4 and Site Allocations Policy E7 and this would weigh heavily against the 
grant of planning permission.   
 
At this stage discussions are still taking place regarding the ownership of the wider site in 
order to determine feasibility of the removal of the barrack blocks and Committee will be 
updated orally as to progress. It is Officers expectation that barrack blocks will be removed 
either via S106 Obligation or through conditions dependent of the ownership situation so that 
further public benefits can be realised in addition to helping secure greater policy compliance. 
 
Other matters to consider include the impact of the proposal on protected wildlife and 
European designations. Although the site does not propose net new overnight 
accommodation, the proposal would amount to development that would be considered as a 
significant net attractor of staff / visitors from outside the nutrient neutrality catchment area 
and, as such, would add to some degree to nutrient loading in the upper reaches of the River 
Wensum from discharging foul water through the Sculthorpe-RAF Camp Wastewater 
Treatment Works. As a proportion of these staff would have travelled from outside the 
catchment area, their nutrient contributions are not accounted for through their place of 
residence. Unless the issue of nutrient pollution can be addressed, the development could not 
be reasonably granted planning permission, and the Committee will need to carefully consider 
the basis for any potential grant of planning permission. Further consideration is given to these 
issues within the report including, where appropriate, any material considerations as part of 
any planning balance. 
 
On balance, subject to the principal issues being addressed the proposal would be regarded 
as acceptable in principle or subject to their being sufficient material considerations to justify 
any departure from the Development Plan and subject to Habitats matters being addressed.  
 

 
2. Design and Appearance 
 
Policy EN 4 states that all development will be of a high-quality design and reinforce local 

Page 21



distinctiveness. Design which fails to have regard to local context and does not preserve or 
enhance the character and quality of an area will not be acceptable. Proposals will be 
expected to have regard to the North Norfolk Design Guide, incorporate sustainable 
construction principles, make efficient use of land, be suitable designed within their context, 
retain important landscape and natural features and incorporate landscape enhancements, 
ensure appropriate scales, make clear distinctions between public and private spaces, create 
safe places, are accessible to all, incorporate footpaths and green links, ensure that parking 
is discreet and accessible and where possible, contain a mix of uses, buildings and 
landscaping. 
 
The proposal seeks outline planning permission with matters of access, layout, scale, external 
appearance and landscaping reserved for subsequent approval. The plans that have been 
submitted are, in effect, indicative only with final precise details to be agreed at a later stage.  
  
Trees 
As part of the application, some details regarding the site’s trees have been included. The 
proposal site is supported by an arboricultural appraisal report. It found that species such as 
oak, maple, birch, whitebeam, Robinia, cherry, aspen, ash and cypress are present on site.  
Three veteran oaks were also recorded labelled at T23, T24 and T25. This species mix is 
consistent with other local air bases. It appears there is a confliction between the proposed 
ponds along Sculthorpe Boulevard and the trees which are to be retained. Data captured by 
the report suggests that these trees are of poor quality or no significance. In consultation with 
the Landscape Officer, it is concluded that the site offers potential for a vast improvement of 
the site. In the event of an approval being issued a full scheme of landscaping is required prior 
to commencement to be submitted and approved. This scheme should include precise location 
and canopy spread of all existing trees, hedgerows and vegetation on site. It should also 
include details of their retention and protection during construction. The report should also 
cover full aspects of the proposed soft landscaping (groundworks, replanting and sustainable 
drainage) and hard landscaping (surface materials, boundary treatments, street furniture, 
external lighting and security measures). This document should also set out reasonable 
timeframes for completion and retention of the scheme. 
 
Fire Safety 
In consultation with Norfolk Fire and Rescue Service no objections have been raised at this 
stage. It is expected however that in the event of a Reserved Matters application being 
submitted full details of fire hydrants will be requested. These details will be sufficient to 
comply with their own standards for firefighting. It is also required that the applicant will bear 
the expenses of implementing this. 
 
Crime 
In consultation with Norfolk Constabulary no objections have been raised to the proposal at 
this stage. Under para 96 of the NPPF, it states that decisions should ensure that 
developments ‘are safe and accessible, so that crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do 
not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion’. It is expected that in the event of a 
Reserved Matters application being submitted that design elements are included which 
specifically address crime and its prevention. Designing out crime as part of the planning 
process is an important proactive way of improving safety within communities and is supported 
by the NPPF. In terms of this application, upon the submission of a Reserved Matters 
application which addresses design, the following details would be required: restriction to a 
single public entry (the inclusion of a gatehouse is welcomed), fencing and security gate 
measures, demarcation of public and private spaces, details of a one-way system for vehicles, 
demarcation of roadway and footway, security gate specifications (including inward facing 
design), lighting of common areas, formal and informal surveillance methods, signage, waste 
containers, roller shutter specifications, security glazing in any building and bicycle storage 

Page 22



facilities. Providing these were covered and considered acceptable by Norfolk Constabulary, 
it is considered the proposal would be acceptable in terms of its crime and disorder impact. 
 
Buildings 
Within this proposal some illustrative plans and elevations have been included. It is considered 
that in terms of their scale and appearance these are appropriate for this location and cited in 
their respective locations within the site. In the event of a Reserved Matters details application 
being submitted, full details including floor plans, elevations, materials will be required. 
 
With the above in mind, it is considered that at this outline stage the proposal is considered 
acceptable in the matters of design under Policy EN 4.  
 
 
3. Heritage 
 
The site does not lie within any statutory or local designations in terms of heritage. However, 
under Policy EN 8 development proposals should preserve or enhance the character and 
appearance of important historic buildings, structures, and landscapes. Development that 
would have an adverse impact on their special historic or architectural interest will not be 
permitted. 
 
Notwithstanding this, the site does form part of the collective personal history of many ex-
service people as part of the RAF Sculthorpe Base. It also is an important landmark in terms 
of local history and, as such, consideration should be given to this, in lieu of its lack of heritage 
designations within the planning balance. It was once one of the largest and strategically most 
important American airbases in the country before closing in 1992. It therefore offers real 
historic, social and communal interest and is thus very much valued by military historians and 
locals alike. In this respect, it is deemed a non-designated heritage asset and therefore 
assessment can be made against the Policy EN 8 and the NPPF.  Consultation has been 
sought with both Historic England and the Conservation and Design Officer. 
 
The site is situated approximately 500m from a scheduled monument named ‘Bowl barrow in 
Wicken Covert, 100m south east of Highfield House’ (List Entry Number 1020783).’ Bowl 
barrows the most numerous forms of round barrow, are funerary monuments dating from the 
Late Neolithic period to the Late Bronze Age, with most examples belonging to the period 
2400-1500 BC. They were constructed as earthen or rubble mounds, sometimes ditched, 
which covered single or multiple burials. They occur either in isolation or grouped as 
cemeteries and often acted as a focus for burials in later periods. No objections have been 
raised by Historic England given the distance away from the site and development is not 
considered to have a major impact on the setting of the scheduled monument or result harm 
to its significance. 
 
Following consultation with the Conservation and Design Officer, no objections have been 
raised. It is considered that the proposal in its outline form is assessed as a wider impact rather 
than the detailed appearance. The proposal lies away from the western edge of the base and 
the residential and main operation areas. With this in mind the impact of the proposal would 
be diversionary rather than consequential. As this smaller area of the base is being considered 
its impact may affect the understanding of how the base functioned rather than alter the heart 
of the base itself. Its siting in this location is considered to distract rather than eclipse the 
importance of the non-designated heritage asset. This coupled with the use of the buildings 
and reuse of this area would provide some public benefit. In this way it can be determined that 
the proposal is acceptable in terms of its heritage impact. 
 
In relation to the heritage impact the proposal is considered acceptable under Policy EN 8 and 
para 209 of the NPPF. 

Page 23



 
 
4. Landscape 
 
Proposals for development should be informed by, and be sympathetic to, the distinctive 
character areas identified in the North Norfolk Landscape Character Assessment and features 
identified in relevant settlement character studies. 
 
Under Policy EN 2, the proposal lies within the Rolling Open Farmland Character Type, as 
defined within the Landscape Character Assessment. Within this type, the overall character of 
the site and surrounding land is described as:  
 

‘Landform and land cover combine to form a very open landscape, with long, 
uninterrupted high-level views and expansive skies. Lack of population across most of 
the area means that there are large areas of quiet rural farmland and dark skies at 
night.’  

 
Given its siting the proposal site occupies an area which could be argued as having a 
detrimental impact on the wider landscape. In light of the decommissioning of the RAF base, 
the remaining buildings lay derelict and lack function and purpose. Detractor 7) of this 
character type expresses that the opportunity for redevelopment of these spaces has potential 
to conflict with the overall open nature of this part of the district. However, it also describes the 
current site as follows:  
 

‘At Tattersett, built development associated with the airfield (housing and former 
hangars) has degraded to a poor condition, exacerbating the stark contrast of the 
utilitarian airfield character with the surrounding rural character of the landscape.’ 

 
Following consultation with the Landscape Officer, a Landscape and Visual Impact 
Assessment has been requested in order to determine how the proposal will integrate into the 
wider landscape. However, it is also noted that at outline planning permission stage the final 
design of the buildings is not being considered. In the event that a Reserved Matters details 
application is submitted, a full LVIA will be included. As this proposal is only seeking outline 
permission it is considered that these details are not required to establish the principle of the 
development. A condition shall be included upon the decision notice which confirms that the 
footprint of the buildings as shown of the site plan will not exceed dimension as shown of the 
Proposed Site Plan. Notwithstanding this, the types of buildings that are proposed such as the 
studios and larger stages in general do somewhat have a similar style to RAF buildings. With 
the Stages being large open plan structures similar to aircraft hangers. In terms of the local 
landscape, the proposal includes a large amount of landscaping and the creation of three 
ponds. It is considered that the local landscape will benefit greatly as they will strengthen the 
open nature of the site, contributing to a positive impact on the wider character area. 
 
On balance, specific details of layout, scale, external appearance and landscape will be 
determined at a later stage, but it is considered that the proposal is acceptable in terms of 
landscape impact at outline stage, in accordance with Policy EN 2 of the Core Strategy. 
 
 
5. Ecology 
 
Under Policy EN 9 all development proposals should protect the biodiversity value of land and 
buildings and minimise fragmentation of habitats; maximise opportunities for restoration, 
enhancement and connection of natural habitats; and incorporate beneficial biodiversity 
conservation features where appropriate. Development proposals that would cause a direct 
or indirect adverse effect to nationally designated sites or other designated areas protected 

Page 24



species will not be permitted unless, they cannot be located on alternative sites that would 
cause less or no harm, the benefits of the development clearly outweigh the impacts on the 
features of the site and the wider network of natural habitats; and prevention, mitigation and 
compensation measures are provided.  
 
Development proposals that would be significantly detrimental to the nature conservation 
interests of nationally designated sites will not be permitted. Where there is reason to suspect 
the presence of protected species applications should be accompanied by a survey assessing 
their presence and, if present, the proposal must be sensitive to, and make provision for, their 
needs. 
 
Nutrient Neutrality 
The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) provide for the 
designation of sites in England that are important for protecting certain species and habitats. 
These sites are known as ‘European sites’ or ‘Habitats sites’ and form part of a network of 
protected sites across the UK known as the ‘National Site Network’. The proposal site lies 
within the ‘Nutrient Neutrality Foul Water Drainage (River Wensum)’ and ‘Nutrient Neutrality 
Surface Water (River Wensum) designations. This means that both foul water and surface 
water from the site drain into the River Wensum, which discharges into three protected sites. 
These are the River Wensum SAC, The Broads SAC and Broadland Ramsar.  
 
Under Section 63 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as 
amended) and the publishing of Natural England’s Advice Letter of 16th March 2022, it requires 
that a competent authority, before deciding to undertake, or give any consent, permission or 
other authorisation for, a plan or project which is likely to have a significant effect on a 
‘European site’ must make an appropriate assessment of the implications of the plan or project 
for that site in view of that site's conservation objectives. It also requires that a person applying 
for any such consent, permission or other authorisation must provide such information as the 
competent authority may reasonably require for the purposes of the assessment or to enable 
it to determine whether an appropriate assessment is required. 
 
Under the guidance from Natural England, it states that business or commercial development, 
not involving overnight accommodation, will generally not need to be included in the 
assessment unless the proposal includes other water implications. This is owing to the 
assumption that those who will be working at the proposal site will generally live close to the 
proposal site. 
 
With the above established, it is noted the proposal site lies approximately 600m from the 
boundary between King’s Lynn and West Norfolk district. One of the aspects of the proposal 
is ‘creating local employment and providing the ability for people to remain in the region’ and 
‘thereby creating an indigenous highly skilled crew base’. Whilst the economic benefits can be 
drawn from these statements, they do imply that employment will be local to the area. This 
would imply that some people have to travel from outside the catchment to work, given the 
proximity of the neighbouring district. It is reasonable to assume that staff will be a mixture of 
residents both inside and those from outside the nutrient catchment area. It is estimated by 
the applicant that around 350 jobs will be created per production on a day to day basis. 
Furthermore, the scale of the proposal includes car parking provision of 308 spaces (as per 
the amended plan), implying a high level of traffic to and from the site. Further details on travel 
are included in Section 7 of this report. 
 
Following consultation with the Landscape Officer (Ecology) and Natural England it is 
considered that the proposal would potentially lead to a significant number of people moving 
into the catchment area for work (either temporary or permanent) and at peak operational 
periods the estimated 350 staff would be discharging foul water through the Sculthorpe-RAF 
Camp Wastewater Treatment Works. As a proportion of these staff would have travelled from 

Page 25



outside the catchment area, their nutrient contributions are not accounted for through their 
place of residence. Therefore, it is feasible that there would be a significant increase in nutrient 
loads in association with the proposed development from this. It is acknowledged that the 
methodology for calculating both the potential of staff of both inside catchment and outside 
the catchment is not standardised, as with overnight accommodation. However, Natural 
England do offer a Discretionary Advice Service (DAS) on a case-by-case basis in which it is 
considered that a Habitat Regulation Assessment is required, prior to the granting of 
permission.  This issue has been established by the Planning Inspector within North Norfolk 
under appeal reference APP/Y2620/W/23/3327166 in March 2024. It was considered that the 
impact upon designated sites must be established prior to a decision being issued and that 
deferring the matter to post-decision through a ‘Grampian’ style condition would be in 
contravention of the Habitat Regulations. Furthermore, King’s Counsel advice given to the 
Norfolk Authorities has indicated that:  
 

“…the assessment provisions should be applied to an outline planning application at 
the point in which the decision in principle is being made and not deferred to the 
reserved matters stage. There is no equivalent provision in the Habitats Regs, because 
the UK’s two-stage consent procedure (outline planning permission followed by 
approval of reserved matters) does not exist in the EU Member States.” 

 
Without information to demonstrate that there would not be a likely significant effect on a 
European site or the calculations of potential nutrient loads, which may arise from the 
development, it is not possible to determine the impact of the proposal. It cannot therefore be 
ascertained whether the proposal would cause a direct or indirect adverse effect to nationally 
designated sites at set out under Policy EN 9 or land within or outside a Site of Special 
Scientific Interest (either individually or in combination with other developments) under para 
186(b) and 187 of the NPPF.  
 
Until the establishment of mitigation solutions (either via credits or on or off-site mitigation 
solutions) or unless a scheme is found to be nutrient neutral, the local planning authority, as 
competent authority under the habitats regulations, would not be able to reasonably conclude 
it is satisfied that there is no reasonable doubt as to the absence of adverse effects on the 
integrity of European sites. 
 
Officers note that development proposals drawing in a large number of users from outside the 
nutrient catchment is rare within North Norfolk but consider that the issuing of a planning 
permission could not reasonably occur until assessment under the Habitats Regulations has 
been completed. 
 
Biodiversity 
The site itself does not lie within any designated areas in respect of biodiversity. The 
application is supported by an Ecology Report, which identified that there would be no impacts 
on Great Crested Newts, a good population of common lizards, enhancements required for 
Red and Amber listed birds, no impacts on roosting bats, mitigation required for foraging 
animals and overall, would deliver a biodiversity net gain of 17.3%. Following consultation with 
the Ecology Officer, no objections to the proposal have been raised at this stage. However 
further reports including on and off site mitigation are required in the event of a Reserved 
Matters application in the future. These include a Construction and Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP), Biodiversity Enhancement Scheme (BES) and Reptile Survey and 
Relocation Scheme. 
 

• Natterjack toad 
Following consultation with the Norfolk Wildlife Trust, no objections have been raised 
however it is raised that the natterjack toad has potential to be present during the 
construction phase of the proposal as they disperse large distances when the pools 

Page 26



on Syderstone Common SSSI (2km away) are dry. It is requested that an assessment 
of the toad is conducted in the event of Reserved Matters application being submitted. 
It is the opinion of the Ecology Officer that the chance of the natterjack toad is very low 
given this distance and that no individuals were found during the reptile survey. It is 
advised that details to safeguard the toads are included in the recommended CEMP. 
 

• Stone-curlew 
Following consultation with the RSPB, objections have been raised to the proposal in 
respect of the neighbouring stone-curlew population. Whilst these concerns are noted, 
in terms of their contribution to the planning balance, the required information in terms 
of a decision is considered to be unjust. The ecology application was carried out by an 
experienced ornithologist, with CIEEM membership. Whilst it is not to downplay the 
importance of the stone-curlew, in planning terms it is unreasonable to expect the 
applicant to provide three years’ worth of monitoring prior to submission. Furthermore, 
it has been requested that monitoring occur within a radius of 1500m of the site. This 
would include areas in which the applicant does not have access to. Following 
consultation with the Ecology Officer, it is considered that the findings of the report 
regarding the species would be negligible, given the military use close by. If a 
Reserved Matters application was to be forthcoming in the future it would be expected 
that an up to date ecology report would include breeding bird surveys and protected 
species, including specific reference to stone-curlews. 

 
Taking into consideration the above issues, on balance the proposal is considered acceptable 
in terms of its impact upon biodiversity. However, this would require conditions to ensure 
further information is provided prior to commencement. Completion and implementation of the 
CEMP is deemed sufficient to address the stone curlew and natterjack toad issues by the 
Landscape Officer (Ecology). This is owing to report had scoped out potential impacts on these 
species and this is deemed acceptable based on distance to the site from known population 
and habitats capable of supporting these species.  
 
However, in relation to addressing nutrient neutrality, at this time the proposal would not 
accord with the Habitats Regulations in the absence of sufficient supporting evidence to 
demonstrate either sufficient mitigation solutions (either via credits or on or off-site mitigation 
solutions) or evidence that the proposal is found to be nutrient neutral. As such, the local 
planning authority, as competent authority under the habitats regulations, would not be able 
to reasonably conclude it is satisfied that there is no reasonable doubt as to the absence of 
adverse effects on the integrity of European sites. 
 
However, it may be possible for the applicant to provide the necessary information within a 
specified timeframe to enable the grant of planning permission. Further consideration of this 
is given within the Planning Balance and Conclusion Section. 
 
 
6. Environment and Pollution 
 
Under Policy SS 4, all development proposals will contribute to the delivery of sustainable 
development, ensure protection and enhancement of natural and built environmental assets 
and geodiversity and be located and designed so as to reduce carbon emissions and mitigate 
and adapt to future climate change.  
 
Under Policy EN 13, all development proposals should minimise, and where possible reduce, 
all emissions and other forms of pollution, including light and noise pollution, and ensure no 
deterioration in water quality. Proposals will only be permitted where, individually or 
cumulatively, there are no unacceptable impacts on; the natural environment and general 
amenity; health and safety of the public; air quality; surface and groundwater quality; land 

Page 27



quality and condition; and the need for compliance with statutory environmental quality 
standards. 
 
Minerals 
The proposal lies within a ‘Mineral Safeguarding Area’ as designed by Norfolk County Council. 
These are areas where mineral resources occur which may be of local, or greater than local, 
importance. The proposal site lies on a sand and gravel area. Following consultation with the 
County Council, an investigation has been requested in order to determine if such minerals 
have economic value. The applicant has requested that this occurs prior to commencement 
of the proposal, which the County Council agree to. 
 
Noise 
The proposal is supported by a noise assessment. Following consultation with the 
Environmental Protection Officer, it is considered that further information is required as the 
noise report has addressed impact of the RAF activities on the site but not properly assessed 
the impact of the proposal on its surroundings. This is required to ensure that it will sufficiently 
address the amenity of the neighbouring dwellings from noise generated by the proposal.  
 
The closest dwelling would be approximately 200m away from the nearest proposed stage. 
As the proposal lacks definitive information regarding design of the buildings, such as sound 
proofing, further information is required. It is advised that similar sites could be used as 
comparison to gauge this impact. Furthermore, design elements such as sound 
lobbies/entrances could be integrated into the design of the buildings to reduce noise output. 
As the proposal is for outline permission specific details have not been provided in regard to 
onsite vehicular movements, unloading times and these locations, all of which have a potential 
noise impact. 
 
Following further comments by the Environmental Protection Officer, an objection to the 
proposal has been raised subject to the provision of a further noise survey prior to 
commencement of the development. This report will sufficiently address the proposals impact 
upon neighbouring dwellings and contain data regarding the topography of the land and how 
this impacts the travel of noise. It will also include specific targets of noise levels and mitigation 
measures where appropriate through design and materials. The report will be carried out using 
the relevant methodology as prescribed by BS4142 standards. 
 
Ordnance 
As the site forms part of a previously developed military site, a consideration is the potential 
and danger of unexploded ordnance being discovered on site. The application is supported 
by a Preliminary UXO Risk Assessment. This report determined that the site has a high risk 
of unexploded ordnance, most likely from either unexploded Luftwaffe bombs or Allied stored 
munitions. Following consultation with the Environmental Protection Officer, and the findings 
of the report, a Phase 2 Risk Assessment Report is required. In the event of an approval of 
the proposal, this report would need to be submitted and approved prior to commencement. 
 
Contaminated Land 
In addition to the above, the sites is designated as ‘Potentially Contaminated Land’. The 
application is supported by a Phase 1 Investigation report. Following consultation with the 
Environmental Protection Officer and the findings of the report, no objections to the proposal 
have been raised. This is subject to the condition that prior to commencement, a Phase 2 
Assessment and Scheme of Remediation is submitted and approved in writing. 
 
National Gas 
Following consultation with Nation Gas Transmission no objections have been raised as there 
are no assets in the area. 
 

Page 28



Flooding Risk 
In relation to the impact of the proposal on flood risk, consultation has been sought from the 
Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA). The proposal site only lies within one flooding designation 
as identified by the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (November 2017). This is ‘Areas 
Susceptible to Groundwater’. However, this designation does not show the likelihood of 
groundwater flooding occurring and does not take account of the chance of flooding from 
groundwater rebound. This designation covers a large area of land, and only isolated locations 
within the overall susceptible area are actually likely to suffer the consequences of 
groundwater flooding. 
 
The proposal has been supported by a ‘Flood Risk & Drainage Assessment’ which concludes 
that it is appropriate from a flood risk and drainage perspective, subject to the implementation 
of the recommended mitigation measures. The Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) raise no 
objections to the report which addresses their initial concerns. It is recommended that a 
condition requesting further drainage details is submitted prior to commencement, in the event 
the application is approved. 
 
It is noted that there is a current objection from the Environmental Protection Officer pending 
a further noise assessment. It has been agreed that in light of this objection; in order to 
overcome this, the Environmental Protection Officer would accept a further noise survey 
condition which will be conditioned prior to the submission of the first reserved. Given this will 
be required as part as a recommendation of approval, and the above issues having been 
deemed acceptable. On balance the outline proposal can be considered policy compliant with 
Policy SS 4, Policy EN 10 and Policy EN 13 and para 175 of the NPPF. 
 
 
7. Highways 
 
Policy CT 5 requires that development will be designed to reduce the need to travel and to 
maximise the use of sustainable forms of transport appropriate to its particular location. As a 
large scale application outside of a settlement boundary, it is expected that the proposal 
provides for safe access for a variety of transport modes and by all site users, access to the 
highway network is without detriment to the amenity or character of the area, expected nature 
and volume of traffic generated by the proposal can be accommodated by the existing road 
network safely without detriment and the proposal is accompanied by a transport assessment 
and travel plan.  
 
Alongside this, Policy SS 6 requires that new development should be supported by and have 
good access to infrastructure, open space, public services and utilities. Permission for 
development will not be granted unless there is sufficient capacity in existing local 
infrastructure to meet the additional requirements arising from the new development, or 
suitable arrangements having been put in place for necessary improvements.  
 
The transport strategy for North Norfolk is to maximise the use of non-car modes, within the 
context of a rural area where, for many trips, there are limited alternatives to the car. This will 
be achieved through promotion of walking and cycling for local trips, through traffic 
management schemes and parking regimes to reduce the impact of traffic on the rural 
environment, and by promoting public transport. Walking and cycling networks and Public 
Rights of Way will be protected, enhanced and promoted. New development should create 
convenient and attractive links within development and to the surrounding area, assist with 
creation of a network of accessible greenspace and provide links to public transport and 
walking and cycling networks. 
 
As this is an outline planning application with all matters reserved it is expected that full details 
of access and parking are provided at Reserved Matters stage. As per Policy CT 5 and para 

Page 29



117 of the NPPF, the proposal is supported by a Transport Statement, Travel Plan Statement, 
Transport Assessment and Travel Plan given the scale and its potential transport implications. 
Consultation has been sought from the Highways Authority and the Rights of Way Authority 
at Norfolk County Council. 
 
Transport 
It is estimated that the majority of journeys to and from the site will be using private car for 
staff. Using 2011 Census data (over 2021 data, whereby Covid-19 affected travel patterns), it 
is considered that 14% of journeys will be through a mix of sustainable methods (public 
transport/car share). It is proposed that with the data below that ongoing monitoring (Travel 
Action Plan) will take place in the event of an approval. This would take place every one, three 
and five years aimed at influencing staff travel. 
 
• Car 

It is estimated that approximately 78.1% of journeys to the site will be by private car, with 
6.2% of these cars carrying additional passengers (carshare). Using Google Maps it is 
estimated that driving to the site from Fakenham would take 10 minutes and from Kings 
Lynn 31 minutes. 

 
• Bus 

It is expected that some staff will use the public bus to get to the site. This has been 
estimated at approximately 0.7% of the employment base. The closest stop to the site is 
Wicken Green situated circa 450m to the north. The services run twice daily at this stop 
and are serviced by the 26A, 27 and 27A routes. At present, pedestrian access to the site 
is not open from Wicken Green. It is proposed that this will be opened to allow for 
pedestrians and bus/cycle commuters. Alternatively, there is an hourly bus services on the 
A148, however this is a 23 minute walk away from the proposal site. Bus use has been 
predicted in line with a proposed shuttle bus, which will pick up from local accommodation 
and rail stations. A public bus from Kings Lynn takes approximately an hour also. In 
consultation with the Highways Authority, a plan has been provided showing that users 
can access the bus stop on Lancaster Road, without relying on third party land. 
 

• Pedestrian 
Given the sites location, pedestrian access is fairly limited, being only a possibility from 
those living at Wicken Green village. It is possible to walk from Syderstone to Wicken 
Green using public footpaths and Public Rights of Way. Despite this, the submitted Travel 
Plan states that it is estimated that 9.7% of travel to the site will be on foot. Following 
consultation with the Rights of Way Officer, no objections have been raised as the proposal 
will not affect any public rights of way on site. 

 
• Cycling 

It is estimated that some journeys may take place by cycling. Cycling routes, like 
pedestrian routes will be made available from Wicken Green. A 5km and 8km buffer zone 
showing the potential transport connections has been included. Within the 5km staff can 
access the bus stops and a supermarket. Under the 8km buffer, this includes residential 
areas of Fakenham and the National Cycle Network Route 1. It is not known how many 
staff would feasible cycle 5km to work and back as this is roughly 3.1 miles each way. 
Despite this it is estimated that 3.3% of journeys will be undertaken this way. 
 

• Train 
It is estimated that 0.2% of journeys to the site will be by rail. The nearest stations are 
located in Kings Lynn and Dereham. Kings Lynn is Station is 17 miles away. Services run 
from Kings Cross every hour. It is proposed as part of the Travel Plan going forward that 
a shuttle bus service will be provided to transport rail passengers to the site from the 
station. This benefits the proposal by ensuring that this method is more sustainable, and 

Page 30



that staff arrive on time to work. It also reduces dependency on single vehicular 
movements. 

 
Access 
In matters of access, this will be made from the B1454. This highway runs from the village of 
Docking to a junction with the A148, near the villages of Tattersett and Coxford. It has a 60mph 
speed limit and it is anticipated that the largest vehicle that might use the site is a 16.5m 
articulated lorry. At this stage of the proposal, journeys to and from the site are subject to 
change. These include refuse collection, catering deliveries and general production deliveries. 
It is expected that deliveries will occur in the morning prior to work commencing in the day. 
However, it is stated that no vehicular movements will pass through the village of Wicken 
Green to the north of the site, in order to safeguard the amenity of the residents. 
 
Data has been taken from other film studios, most notably from Pinewood Studios between 
2011-2013. It is expected that between 7am and 11am there would be approximately 293 two 
ways trips from the site. In the evening this is estimated at approximately 209 two way trips. 
Cumulatively it is estimated that 350 people will be using the site at any peak period. The 
proposal is also supported by a junction modelling assessment undertaken at the site. The 
assessment concluded that the proposed development will not result on the site access to the 
B1454 or the B1454 to the A148. Data has also been provided by the applicant showing that 
a total of 10 accidents were reported on the B1454 between Dec 2018 and Aug 2023. These 
included 15 casualties of which 6 were killed or seriously injured.  
 
Following consultation with the Highways Authority, no objections have been raised. It is 
considered that the level of traffic to and from the site requires the installation of a Right Turn 
Lane (RTL). The proposal has potential to generate approximately 501 daily two way trips. In 
order to ensure that the highway network can accommodate this without detriment, under the 
current guidance, this will be required prior its first use. As this proposal is an outline 
application and not seeking consideration on the matters of access, details of the Right Turn 
Lane are not required at outline stage however, full technical details will be required at prior to 
commencement of the following: Roads, Footways, Cycleways Plan, Updated Travel Plan, 
On-site Parking for Construction Workers Scheme, Construction Traffic Management Plan 
and the Right Turn Lane. 
 
The Highways Authority also require a Section 278 Agreement, and the precise delivery 
mechanism will be determined as the works are brought forward. The completed works will be 
subject to a Safety Audit and additional works may be required. 
 
Parking Provision 
It is proposed that 308 parking spaces will be provided, 6% of these will be for disabled 
persons (23). In order to anticipate a future increase in electric vehicles, 10% of the spaces 
will be active charging (31) and 20% passive charging (62). 
 
Under Policy CT 6, parking provision is set out in accordance with a proposal’s use class. As 
this proposal is a mixture of uses, it is considered to be sui generis. Under the current parking 
provision guidelines, no set amount of parking is dedicated for these types of developments.  
Following consultation with the Highways Authority and through the application of their parking 
provision requirements (2022) a sufficient level has been proposed. This is to address 
accessibility and electric charging spaces. Whilst this number of 308 is less than the expected 
levels of staff (350 in peak times), it has taken into account the expected number of sustainable 
transportation methods that will occur, as not all staff members will need a dedicated parking 
space. In the matters of parking the proposal is considered policy compliant with Policy CT 6. 
 
With the above in mind, it is considered that the proposal has been designed with a variety of 
travel methods in place. In terms of access to the site, the proposal is heavily reliant on private 

Page 31



car for the majority of journeys and therefore it has not been designed to maximise sustainable 
forms of transport. However, it is acknowledged that the site is restricted by its location within 
the ‘Countryside’ so sustainable transport options are limited in this regard as set out under 
para 109 of the NPPF. However, mitigation measures are proposed once monitoring of actual 
users of the site are known, through the use of a Travel Plan Coordinator. This role is 
dedicated to ensuring each staff member has a personalised journey which maximises more 
sustainable transport such as car sharing, shuttle bus and rail as set out under para 114(a). A 
reward system is proposed for staff based on their engagement with sustainable transport 
methods. 
 
It is considered that the proposal on balance complies with para 116 of the NPPF 
notwithstanding the limitations of the location. Following the removal of access from the 
application and deferral to reserved matters, the Highways Authority’s objection has been 
removed. It is considered that the proposal is acceptable subject to the submission of plans of 
the Right Turn Lane and Stage 1 Road Safety Audit prior to commencement of the application. 
In this regard, this information will need to be submitted to an approved by the LPA to show 
how the proposal will safely accommodate the level of increased traffic. As this information 
will be provided prior to commencement it is considered that the proposal is broadly compliant 
with Policy SS 6 and Policy CT 5, specifically ‘suitable arrangements having been put in place 
for necessary improvements’ and ‘the expected nature and volume of traffic generated by the 
proposal could be accommodated by the existing road network without detriment to the 
amenity or character of the surrounding area or highway safety’.  
 
Under para 115 of the NPPF it states that ‘development should only be prevented or refused 
on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the 
residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe’. In light of the Highways 
Authority not objecting to the proposal on safety grounds the proposal is considered 
acceptable in this regard. 
 
 
Planning Balance and Conclusion 
 
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and section 70(2) of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 sets out that decisions must be taken in accordance 
with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  
 
The proposal to erect a film studio on a former airbase would be in general accordance with 
the aims of Core Strategy Policy SS 2, Policy EC 4 and Site Allocations Policy E7. However, 
the absence of proposals to remove derelict former barrack blocks on the adjacent site, means 
that the proposal would have to be regarded as a departure from the Development Plan and 
this would weigh against the grant of planning permission requiring material considerations in 
favour to outweigh the identified conflict with the Development Plan. 
 
As the proposal is in outline form with all matters reserved for subsequent approval, the details 
submitted in support are generally at a high level in relation to reserved matters details. 
 
Subject to the imposition of conditions, various matters in relation to design and appearance, 
heritage, landscape, and highways are, or can be made acceptable. 
 
In relation to environment and pollution, further surveys are required in order to confirm that 
the noise impacts of the proposal are likely to be acceptable. The timing of any further surveys 
is critical to informing future reserved matters applications. 
 

Page 32



In terms of ecology interests, further surveys are required in relation to Natterjack toad and 
Stone Curlew, the results of which will inform future reserved matters applications and ensure 
compliance with Core Strategy Policy EN 9. 
 
In terms of material considerations in favour of the proposed development, these are largely 
economic in nature including the job benefits from construction and the creation of higher paid 
jobs supporting the film industry. The applicant has suggested circa 350 direct jobs created 
from the proposal on a day-to-day basis. 
 
The applicant has also indicated that the scheme will generate substantial supply chain 
benefits and indirect jobs through an extensive range of skills and expertise required to support 
film and TV production. This will range from the patronage of local shops, hotels and 
restaurants to the demand for specialist services such as costume designers, make-up artists, 
set creators and security.     
 
In the opinion of Officers, the economic benefits of the proposal alone attract substantial 
weight in favour of the proposed development. 
 
Whilst the weight in favour of the proposal is substantial, Officers recognise that, in the 
absence of resolution of matters relating to the nutrient impact of the proposal, it would not be 
reasonably possible to grant planning permission under the Habitats Regulations until this 
issue is resolved.   
 
Whilst in many cases such issues would result in a recommendation of refusal related to the 
Habitat impacts, having regard to the economic benefits, Officers consider there may be 
potential, in this case, to delegate authority to the Assistant Director subject to the Habitat 
Regulations issues being resolved. This would allow the applicant time to address the matter 
knowing that all other issues are or can be resolved through imposition of conditions or S106 
Obligation(s). 
 
This is a change to the long-standing practice of the Local Planning Authority in relation to 
nutrient neutrality and, whilst the proposed recommendation may carry some risks, permission 
could only be granted if the Habitats issues are satisfactorily addressed otherwise the matter 
would either be referred back to Development Committee for re-determination or would be 
refused. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Delegate authority to the Assistant Director of Planning to APPROVE subject to: 
 
1. Satisfactory resolution of nutrient loading under the Habitats Regulation sufficient to 

address Natural England's comments. 
 

2. Completion of a Section 278 Agreement with NCC Highways and subject to a Safety Audit. 
 
3. Satisfactory resolution of the issue of demolition of barrack blocks either via S106 

Obligation or condition to secure policy compliance. 
 
4. Imposition of conditions including any considered necessary by the Assistant Director - 

Planning including matters relating to: 
 

 Time Limit for the submission of a Reserved Matters application 

 In accordance with approved plans and documents 

Page 33



 Footprint of buildings shown on proposal site plan will not exceed stated dimensions 

 Prior to commencement (or as otherwise stated) the submission and approval of the 
following documents: 

o Phase II Contamination Report 
o Phase II Ordnance Report 
o Updated Noise Report (prior to submission of first reserved matters application) 
o Updated Surface Water Drainage Scheme 
o Updated Travel Plan 
o Right Turn Lane to B1454 Technical Details Plan 
o Mineral Resource Assessment 
o Biodiversity Enhancement Scheme 
o Reptile Survey, Protection and Relocation Scheme 
o Roads, Footways, Cycleways Plan 
o On-site Parking for Construction Workers Scheme 
o Construction Traffic Management Plan 

 
Final wording of conditions to be delegated to the Assistant Director – Planning. 
 
5. That the application be REFUSED if sufficient resolution in relation to nutrient loading is 

not addressed by the 31st March 2025 and in the opinion of the Assistant Director - 
Planning, there is no realistic prospect of a resolution completed within a reasonable 
timescale thereafter.  

Page 34



 

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT PERFORMANCE UPDATE – 12 DECEMBER 2024 
 
1.  INTRODUCTION: 
 
1.1 This report briefly sets out performance in relation to the determination of planning 

applications in Development Management the period October 2024. 
 
1.2 This report sets out the figures for the number of cases decided and percentage 

within time set against the relevant target and summary of 24-month average 
performance. 

 
1.3 The tables also set out the percentage of the total number of decisions made that 

are subsequently overturned at appeal as 24-month average performance. 
 
1.4 In addition, the tables set out the number of cases registered and validated within 

the specified months.  
 

Performance 
Measure  

Actual Performance  Target  Comments  

(Speed) 
Decisions Made  
(Period October 2024) 

Major 

zero decisions 
issued. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Non-Major 
74 decisions issued 
 
95% within time 
period (four cases 
over time) 

 60%  
 
 
(80% NNDC) 
 
 
 
 
 
70%  
 
 
(90% NNDC) 

24 month average to 31 
October 2024 is  
 
100.00%   

 
 
 
24 month average to 31 
October 2024 is  
 
97.00% 

 
 
 

(Quality) 
% of total number of 
decisions made that 
are then 
subsequently 
overturned at appeal 
 

 
 
 
Major 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Non-Major 
 

 
 
 
10% 
 
(5% NNDC) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
10% 
 
(5% NNDC) 

24 month average to 31 
October 2024 is 
 
1.61% (one case RV/22/1661) 
 

 
 
24 month average to 31 
October 2024 is 
 
0.76% 

 
 
 

Page 35

Agenda Item 9



 

Performance 
Measure  

Actual Performance  Target  Comments  

 

Validation  
(Period October 2024) 

310 applications 
registered  
 
 
260 applications 
validated 
 

3 days for 
Non- Major 
from date of 
receipt 
 
5 days for 
Majors from 
date of 
receipt  

Datasets do not currently 
breakdown validated apps by 
Major / Minor or those on PS2 
returns, but performance data 
retrieval being reviewed. 

 
 
 

2. S106 OBLIGATIONS 
 

2.1 A copy of the list of latest S106 Obligations is attached. There are currently five 
S106 Obligations being progressed, one of which has been completed and can 
be removed from the list. 

 

3.  RECOMMENDATIONS: 

3.1 Members are asked to note the content of this report. 

Page 36



SCHEDULE OF S106 AGREEMENTS UPDATE FOR DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE:

Application 
reference

Site Address Development Proposal Parish Planning Case Officer
Committee or 
Delegated 
Decision

Date of 
Resolution to 
Approve

Eastlaw 
Officer

Eastlaw Ref: Current Position
RAG 
Rating

PF/22/1596 & 
PF/22/1784 
(Duplicate)

Land South Of Norwich Road
North Walsham
Norfolk

Hybrid planning application, comprising the 
following elements:
1. Full Planning Application for the 
construction of 343 dwellings (including 
affordable homes), garages, parking, 
vehicular access onto Ewing Road and 
Hornbeam Road, public open spaces, play 
areas, landscaping, drainage and other 
associated infrastructure;
2. Outline Planning Application with all 
matters reserved for a phased development 
comprising 7 serviced self‐build plots and 
associated infrastructure; and
3. Outline Planning Application with all 
matters reserved for the construction of an 
elderly care facility and associated 
infrastructure, landscaping and open space

CP071 ‐ North Walsham Russell Williams Committee 25/01/2024 Fiona Croxon 21830 COMPLETED

PF/22/2225
Land At The Street 
The Street
Swanton Novers

Erection of seven affordable dwellings with 
new access, associated infrastructure and 
landscaping

CP100 ‐ Swanton Novers Phillip Rowson Delegated N/A Fiona Croxon TBC S106 being signed

PO/20/1251
Former Sports Ground
Station Road
North Walsham

Erection of up to 54 dwellings with public 
open space, new vehicular access, 
landscaping and associated infrastructure 
(Outline application with full details of the 
proposed means of access only.  Details of 
layout, scale, appearance and landscaping 
are reserved for future determination)

CP071 ‐ North Walsham Phillip Rowson Committee 17/10/2024 Fiona Croxon 24394 S106 is being signed

PF/24/1370

Woodside
Heydon Road
Corpusty
Norwich
Norfolk

Erection of 1 self‐build dwellings with 
vehicular access to Heydon Road

CP021 ‐ Corpusty and Saxthorpe Olivia Luckhurst Delegated TBC Fiona Croxon TBC Draft S106 is being prepared

PF/24/1572

Land Off
Mill Road
Wells‐next‐the‐sea
Norfolk

Erection of 47 dwellings with associated 
landscaping, open space, drainage, vehicular 
access and parking provision.

CP112 ‐ Wells‐next‐the‐Sea Mark Brands Committee 12/11/2024 Fiona Croxon 24634 Awaiting to hear from the applcants

12 December 2024

P
age 37



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 OFFICERS' REPORTS TO Appeals Information for Committee between  

 DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 12-December-2024 07/11/2024 and 04/12/2024 

 

 APPEALS SECTION 
 
 NEW APPEALS 
 
 CROMER - PF/24/1206 - Single storey rear extension to dwelling 
 
 27 Shipden Avenue, Cromer, Norfolk, NR27 9BD 
 For Mr Andrew Crane 
 FAST TRACK - HOUSEHOLDER 
 
 Appeal Start Date:  22/11/2024 

 Appeal Decision:  

 Appeal Decision Date:  

 

 

 MELTON CONSTABLE - EF/23/2472 - Lawful Development Certificate for proposed conversion of loft to bedroom and  

 installation of rooflights 
 
 Sloley House, 27 Briston Road, Melton Constable, Norfolk, NR24 2DG 
 For Mr & Mrs Dean & Sonia James 
 WRITTEN REPRESENTATION 
 
 Appeal Start Date:  18/11/2024 

 Appeal Decision:  

 Appeal Decision Date:  

 
 
 INQUIRIES AND HEARINGS - IN PROGRESS 
 

 NONE 
 
 
 WRITTEN REPRESENTATIONS APPEALS - IN HAND 
 
 BINHAM - PU/24/0753 - Change of use agricultural building to dwellinghouse (Class C3) and building operations  

 necessary for the conversion 
 
 Barn To Rear Of, Abbott Farm Barn, Walsingham Road, Binham, Fakenham, Norfolk, NR21 0AW 
 For Jonathan and Tina Sneath 
 WRITTEN REPRESENTATION 
 
 Appeal Start Date:  09/09/2024 

 Appeal Decision:  

 Appeal Decision Date:  

 

 
 BLAKENEY - PF/23/1825 - Erection of single-storey holiday lodge 
 
 Hilltop Retreats, Langham Road, Blakeney, Holt, Norfolk, NR25 7PR 
 For Mr James Bunn 
 WRITTEN REPRESENTATION 
 
 Appeal Start Date:  10/04/2024 

 Appeal Decision:  

 Appeal Decision Date:  

 

 

 BODHAM - PF/23/2684 - Construction of new agricultural building following demolition of existing building subject of  

 lawful development certificate CL/23/0819 
 Hurricane Farm Corner, Church Road, Lower Bodham, Holt, Norfolk, NR25 6RN 
 For Mr David Gay 
 WRITTEN REPRESENTATION 
 
 Appeal Start Date:  05/08/2024 

 Appeal Decision:  

 Appeal Decision Date:  

 

Page 39

Agenda Item 10



  

 EDGEFIELD - PU/23/1670 - Change of use of agricultural building to 1 'larger' dwellinghouse (Class C3), and building  

 operations reasonably necessary for the conversion 
 
 Land North East Of Wood Farm Barn, Plumstead Road, Edgefield, Norfolk 
 For Mr & Mrs Ben & Anita Jones 
 WRITTEN REPRESENTATION 
 
 Appeal Start Date:  09/05/2024 

 Appeal Decision:  

 Appeal Decision Date:  

 

 
 HICKLING - PF/24/0687 - Erection of single storey front/side extension 
 
 Old Chapel Cottage, Stubb Road, Hickling, Norwich, Norfolk, NR12 0YS 
 For Mr and Mrs S Budgett 
 FAST TRACK - HOUSEHOLDER 
 
 Appeal Start Date:  18/07/2024 

 Appeal Decision:  

 Appeal Decision Date:  

 

 

 ITTERINGHAM - PF/23/2299 - Change of use of the building known as "The Muster" and "Willow Barn" office-studio  

 and associated outbuildings to a residential dwelling (C3) 
 
 The Muster, The Street, Itteringham, Norwich, Norfolk, NR11 7AX 
 For Mr Eric and Penelope Goodman and Blake 
 WRITTEN REPRESENTATION 
 
 Appeal Start Date:  06/08/2024 

 Appeal Decision:  

 Appeal Decision Date:  

 

 
 KNAPTON - PF/23/2228 - Erection of detached dwelling and car port with vehicle access to Mundesley Road 
 
 Alford Barns, Mundesley Road, Knapton, North Walsham, Norfolk, NR28 0RY 
 For Mr John Alford 
 WRITTEN REPRESENTATION 
 
 Appeal Start Date:  25/06/2024 

 Appeal Decision:  

 Appeal Decision Date:  

 

 
 MORSTON - PF/23/1501 - Erection of timber structure to contain walk-in fridge for kitchen (retrospective) 
 
 Morston Hall, The Street, Morston, Holt, Norfolk, NR25 7AA 
 For Mr Galton Blackiston 
 WRITTEN REPRESENTATION 
 
 Appeal Start Date:  10/07/2024 

 Appeal Decision:  

 Appeal Decision Date:  

 

 

 RAYNHAM - TW/24/0784 - T1 & T2 - Cherry Tree - Take down leaving only Stump   

 T3 - Whitebeam - Reduce width to 4m and height to 7m 
 
 19 Earl Of Bandon Avenue, West Raynham, Fakenham, Norfolk, NR21 7DQ 
 For Miss Stephanie Inns 
 WRITTEN REPRESENTATION 
 
 Appeal Start Date:  30/09/2024 

 Appeal Decision:  

 Appeal Decision Date:  

Page 40



 

  

 ROUGHTON - CL/23/1650 - Lawful Development Certificate for use of land for siting of static caravan, and use of  

 static caravan as a dwelling. 
 
 Static Caravan At, Woodview, Thorpe Market Road, Roughton, Norwich, Norfolk, NR11 8TB 
 For Mr Alexander Brackley 
 WRITTEN REPRESENTATION 
 
 Appeal Start Date:  10/11/2023 

 Appeal Decision:  

 Appeal Decision Date:  

 

 
 SALTHOUSE - PF/23/2553 - Demolition of farm buildings and erection of 5 dwellings 
 
 Land To The East Of , Cross Street , Salthouse, Holt, Norfolk 
 For Mr James Bunn 
 WRITTEN REPRESENTATION 
 
 Appeal Start Date:  03/10/2024 

 Appeal Decision:  

 Appeal Decision Date:  

 

 

 SHERINGHAM - PF/24/0476 - Erection of a single storey detached dwelling with rooms in the roof space and  

 associated works. 
 
 Land North Of East Court , Abbey Road, Sheringham, Norfolk 
 For GSM Investments Ltd 
 WRITTEN REPRESENTATION 
 
 Appeal Start Date:  31/10/2024 

 Appeal Decision:  

 Appeal Decision Date:  

 

 

 SWAFIELD - PF/23/1580 - Stationing of caravan for a mixed use comprising short term residential retreat / holiday  

 accommodation for carers and people from a caring profession (up to 84 days per annum); hosted retreats for carers  

 and people from a caring profession (up to 18 days per annum); Full-day and half-day therapeutic retreats for carers  

 and people from a caring profession including overnight accommodation for the site manager / operator (up to 66  

 days per annum). 

 

 Land East Of Lincoln Cottage, (known As The Cottage), Common Road, Bradfield Common, Bradfield, Norfolk 
 

 For Dr Clare Walters 
 WRITTEN REPRESENTATION 
 
 Appeal Start Date:  09/09/2024 

 Appeal Decision:  

 Appeal Decision Date:  

 

 

 SWANTON ABBOTT - EF/23/2459 - Lawful Development Certificate for proposed siting of modular building within  

 curtilage of dwelling for use as an annexe to the main dwelling 
 
 Ambleside, The Footpath, Aylsham Road, Swanton Abbott, Norwich, Norfolk, NR10 5DL 
 For Gibbons 
 WRITTEN REPRESENTATION 
 
 Appeal Start Date:  08/04/2024 

 Appeal Decision:  

 Appeal Decision Date:  

 

 

 

 

Page 41



 

 
 TRUNCH - PF/23/0613 - Construction of two-bedroom detached dwelling, cartshed garage and associated works 
 
 The Roost, Mundesley Road, Trunch, North Walsham, Norfolk, NR28 0QB 
 For Mr & Mrs Jelliff 
 WRITTEN REPRESENTATION 
 
 Appeal Start Date:  19/07/2024 

 Appeal Decision:  

 Appeal Decision Date:  

 

 
 WELLS-NEXT-THE-SEA - PF/23/1018 - Erection of two storey dwelling 
 
 34 Freeman Street, Wells-next-the-sea, Norfolk, NR23 1BA 
 For Mr Underwood 
 WRITTEN REPRESENTATION 
 
 Appeal Start Date:  14/05/2024 

 Appeal Decision:  

 Appeal Decision Date:  

 

 
 WELLS-NEXT-THE-SEA - PF/24/0639 - Conversion of First floor restaurant into Air B&B holiday accommodation 
 
 Plattens Fish and Chips, 12 & 13 The Quay, Wells-next-the-sea, Norfolk, NR23 1AH 

 For Platten's 
 WRITTEN REPRESENTATION 
 
 Appeal Start Date:  16/09/2024 

 Appeal Decision:  

 Appeal Decision Date:  

 

 

 WELLS-NEXT-THE-SEA - LA/24/0640 - Works associated with conversion of first floor restaurant to holiday  

 accommodation 
 
 Plattens Fish and Chips, 12 & 13 The Quay, Wells-next-the-sea, Norfolk, NR23 1AH 

 For Platten's 
 WRITTEN REPRESENTATION 
 
 Appeal Start Date:  16/09/2024 

 Appeal Decision:  

 Appeal Decision Date:  

 

 
 WEYBOURNE - PF/23/2247 - Erection of two-storey dwelling 
 
 Land Adjacent Maltings Hotel, The Street, Weybourne, Holt, Norfolk, NR25 7SY 
 For Mr Philip Turner 
 WRITTEN REPRESENTATION 
 
 Appeal Start Date:  03/09/2024 

 Appeal Decision:  

 Appeal Decision Date:  

 
 
 APPEAL DECISIONS - RESULTS AND SUMMARIES 
 
 POTTER HEIGHAM - PF/22/1306 - Erection of two storey semi-detached dwelling to side of 14 Reynolds Lane 
 
 14 Reynolds Lane, Potter Heigham, Great Yarmouth, Norfolk, NR29 5LY 
 For Alison Vanner 
 WRITTEN REPRESENTATION 
 
 Appeal Start Date:  17/04/2024 

 Appeal Decision:  Appeal Dismissed 

 Appeal Decision Date:  08/11/2024 

Page 42



 
 
 
 
 

 Total Number of Appeals listed:  22 
 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 OFFICERS' REPORTS TO Appeals Information for Committee between  

 DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE (ENFORCEMENTS)  07/11/2024 and 04/12/2024 
 

 12-December-2024 
 

 APPEALS SECTION 

 WRITTEN REPRESENTATIONS APPEALS - IN HAND 
 
 ALBY WITH THWAITE - ENF/20/0066 - Erection of a building for residential use, garage and landscaing to create a  

 garden 
 
 Field View, Alby Hill, Alby, Norwich, NR11 7PJ 

 
 WRITTEN REPRESENTATION 
 
 Appeal Start Date:  24/07/2023 

 Appeal Decision:  

 Appeal Decision Date:  

 

 
 EDGEFIELD - ENF/23/0092 - unauthorised works to a protected trees and new camping activity. 
 
 Dam Hill Plantation, Holt Road, Edgefield, Norfolk 

 
 WRITTEN REPRESENTATION 
 
 Appeal Start Date:  23/02/2024 

 Appeal Decision:  

 Appeal Decision Date:  

 

 
 RUNTON - ENF/23/0027 - Breach of conditions 2, 3,4, 6, 7, 8, 10, 11, 13,15 and 16 of planning permission PF/18/1302. 
 
 Homewood, Mill Lane, East Runton, Cromer, Norfolk, NR27 9PH 

 
 WRITTEN REPRESENTATION 
 
 Appeal Start Date:  09/01/2024 

 Appeal Decision:  

 Appeal Decision Date:  

 

 

 SOUTHREPPS - ENF/22/0281 - Stationing of caravan and associated works including installation of septic tank and  

 engineering works. 
 
 Land Rear Pit Street, Southrepps, Norwich, Norfolk, NR11 8UX 

 
 WRITTEN REPRESENTATION 
 
 Appeal Start Date:  23/05/2023 

 Appeal Decision:  

 Appeal Decision Date:  

 

 
 WELLS-NEXT-THE-SEA - ENF/23/0124 - Material change of use of the land for the siting of a pizza van 
 
 Land West Of 3, The Quay, Wells-next-the-sea, Norfolk 

 
 WRITTEN REPRESENTATION 
 
 Appeal Start Date:  31/08/2023 

 Appeal Decision:  

 Appeal Decision Date:  

 

 

 
Page 45



 

 
 WEYBOURNE - ENF/23/0278 - Change of use of barn to a pilates studio 
 
 Weybourne House, The Street, Weybourne, Holt, Norfolk, NR25 7SY 

 
 WRITTEN REPRESENTATION 
 
 Appeal Start Date:  29/04/2024 

 Appeal Decision:  

 Appeal Decision Date:  

 
 
 
 
 

 Total Number of Appeals listed:  6 
 

Page 46



 

  

Planning Service Improvement Plan (PSIP)  
– Local Validation List 2024-2026 
 

Executive Summary This report focusses on proposals for a new Local 
Validation list which sets out the range of documents 
required to be submitted with planning applications (over 
and above national requirements) in order to make them 
valid. 
 

Options considered 
 

Addressed – where appropriate – within the body of the 
text / appendices. 
 

Consultation(s) North Norfolk District Council held a public consultation 
between Wednesday 16 October 2024, and Wednesday 
27 November 2024.  
 
Prior to that, internal consultation took place with Officers 
from within Planning and Environmental Health. 
 

Recommendations 
 

1. Committee is recommended to adopt the Local 
Validation list with some minor modifications as set out 
in the report.  

 
2. The new Local Validation List will come into effect on 01 

January 2025 with transitional arrangements as set out 
in this report.  

 

Reasons for 
recommendations 
 

To deliver the improvements sought by the Planning 
Service Improvement Plan (PSIP). 
 

Background papers 
 

Overviews and Scrutiny Committee Report from February 
2023 on the PSIP 

 
 

Wards affected None 

Cabinet 
member(s) 

Cllr Andrew Brown 

Contact Officer Geoff Lyon, Development Manager, Tel: 01263 516226 

 

Links to key documents: 
 

Corporate Plan:  
Completing the PSIP is one of the Corporate Actions in the 
Corporate Plan – a new Local Validation list is a key part of 
the PSIP work  

Medium Term Financial 
Strategy (MTFS) 
   

No 

Council Policies & 
Strategies  

The Planning Service Improvement Plan 

 

Corporate Governance: 

Page 47

Agenda Item 11



 

 

Is this a key decision  
No 

Has the public interest 
test been applied 

Not Applicable 

Details of any previous 
decision(s) on this 
matter 

See the Background Papers section  

 
1. Purpose of the report 

 
1.1 This report has been written to provide Councillors with an update on progress 

on the delivery of a new Local Validation list which is a key strand within the 
Council’s Planning Service Improvement Plan (PSIP). The report seeks 
Committee sign-off to adopt the new Local Validation List for introduction on 01 
January 2025.  

 

2. Introduction & Background 
 

2.1 A report was presented to Development Committee on 19 September setting out 
a proposed new validation list.   

 
At that meeting the Committee UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED: 
 
That the Council undertake a six-week public consultation on the new Local 
Validation List. 
 
After public consultation, the Local Validation List come into effect (with or 
without necessary modifications) after sign-off by the appropriate decision 
making body at North Norfolk District Council. 

 
2.2 North Norfolk District Council held a public consultation between Wednesday 16 

October 2024, and Wednesday 27 November 2024. 

 
 

3. CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
 
3.1 The consultation questionnaire grouped the list of 54 requirements alphabetically 

into ten groups of five local requirements and one group of four local 
requirements. For each group of questions, respondents were asked to confirm 
whether they agreed with the inclusion of specific requirements within the Local 
Validations List. For each requirement, respondents could choose “Yes”, “No” or 
“Do not wish to comment”. After each group , respondents were able to provide 
any comments in relation to those requirements. At the end of the questionnaire, 
respondents were also able to add any further comments. The average time to 
complete the questionnaire was 8 minutes and 52 seconds.  
 

3.2 16 responses to the consultation were received. The majority of responses came 
from members of the public, then Town and Parish Councils and then Architects. 
A detailed breakdown of the responses received are attached at Appendix 1 to 
this report.  
 

Page 48



 

3.3 In the main, respondents where broadly supportive of the inclusion of most of the 
54 local validation requirements. Many wanted to ensure that additional 
documents were only needed in the right circumstances as there were concerns 
about the additional costs for applicants in preparing a large suite of supporting 
documents. One respondent referred to complexity of the planning system “like 
wading through treacle” and that “the additional cost and time of these supporting 
information is killing projects before they start which has a big impact on local 
economy”. There are also concerns that, if it becomes too complex to apply, 
people may be tempted to complete work without planning permission.  

 
3.4 The only proposed validation requirement which drew universal opposition 

(56.3% “No”) was requirement 51 “Use of artificial intelligence in application 
submission”. Unfortunately none of the respondents provided clarification as to 
why they opposed the requirement. The use of AI in the preparation of planning 
documents is increasing and the proposed requirement does mirror closely the 
requirements set out recently by the Planning Inspectorate in relation to Appeals. 
It is important that, when making planning decisions, the origin of supporting 
documents is known and that the applicant or agents acting on their behalf can 
confirm the extent to which AI was used in the production of the documents and 
that they take responsibility for the supporting information.  

 
3.5 Suggested Minor Modifications – based on the consultation responses 

received, one of the proposed minor modifications will be to ensure that the 
circumstances in which a local validation document is required is clearly 
expressed in the documentation, if it has not been already, to make sure only 
necessary documents are requested in appropriate circumstances. Further, in 
relation to requirement 51 “Use of artificial intelligence in application submission”, 
this will be revised to ensure it is abundantly clear what is expected of applicants 
and a template document will be put together which will help applicants and 
agents when preparing to submit that requirement.  

 
3.6 Transitional Arrangements -  With a new Local Validation List expected to 

come into effect on 01 January 2025, all new planning applications received on 
or after that date will be required to provide relevant documents in accordance 
with the new Local Validation List 2025 to 2027. However, The Council Offices 
close for Christmas at circa 4pm on 24 December and do not re-open until 02 
January 2025. Therefore, any application not received by the Council prior to the 
offices closing at 4pm on 24 Dec 2024 will be required to meet the new Local 
Validation Requirements. All applications received prior to the offices closing on 
24 Dec 2024 (whether valid or not) will be will be validated in accordance with 
the requirements of the old Local Validation List. 

 

4. Corporate Priorities 

4.1  As specified in the Links to Key Documents section above. 
 

5. Financial and Resource Implications 

5.1 This report in-itself doesn’t have any financial implications other than to assist in 
the effective operation of the Council’s planning functions.  

5.2 There are some work-load implications from the report – in terms of additional 
work in setting up and operating the new Local Validation list monitoring but 
these will be managed within current resources. 

Comments from the S151 Officer: 

Page 49



 

The S151 Officer (or member of the Finance team on their behalf) will 
complete this section.  

 

 

 

6. Legal Implications 

 
6.1. The main issue from a legal perspective is around the validity of any new Local 

Validation list and ensuring due process is followed in its introduction.  

 

Comments from the Monitoring Officer 

The Monitoring Officer (or member of the Legal team on behalf of the MO) 
will complete this section. They will outline any legal advice provided. 

 

 

 

 

7. Risks 

7.1  It is important that the issue within this report is progressed in an appropriate 
manner. It will not be possible to complete the PSIP without doing so.  

 

8. Net ZeroTarget  
 

8.1. This is not a report that leads to decisions that will result in any direct impact – 
positive or negative – on the Council’s Net Zero position. It is anticipated that the 
new suggested requirement within the Local Validation list for submission of a 
“Climate Emergency / Net Zero Statement” will provide the Local Planning 
Authority with important information in respect of how the proposed development 
responds positively to a climate emergency and how the development has been 
designed to reduce the carbon impact of development that will help facilitate and 
accelerate the transition to Net Zero by 2050. 
 

9. Equality, Diversity & Inclusion 

9.1 There are no equality, diversity or inclusion implications of this report.  

 

10. Community Safety issues  
 

10.1 There are no community safety implications of this report. 

 

11. Conclusion 

11.1 The proposals within this report should help improve the Planning Service 

and help reduce the timeframe between validation and determination of 

Page 50



 

planning applications as a result of necessary information being included 

at the start of the determination period. 

 

12 Recommendations 
 
12.1 It is recommended that: 

 
12.1.1 Committee is recommended to adopt the Local Validation list 

with some minor modifications as set out in the report. 
 

12.1.2 The new Local Validation List will come into effect on 01 
January 2025 with transitional arrangements as set out in this 
report. 

 
 
 

Page 51



 

Appendix 1 – New Local Validation List (2024 – 2026) 

Page 52



Appendix 1 – Local Validation Consultation Responses (16 individual responses in total) 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 53



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 54



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 55



 

Page 56


	Agenda
	7 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
	Pages from Model Councillor Code of Conduct 2020 V2 0121
	Guidance on Local Government A_ Local Government Association 41

	8 TATTERSETT - PO/23/1025: Outline Planning Application (with all matters reserved) for creation of new film and TV studios including 5no sound stages with attached costume and make-up facilities, 8no workshops, 1no production facility buildings, 1no ancillary offices, 1no concession, film school and amenities, 1no gatehouse, parking, landscaping and new vehicular access off Sculthorpe Boulevard
	9 DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT PERFORMANCE UPDATE
	Schedule of draft S106 Obligations for 12 Dec 2024 Development Committee

	10 APPEALS SECTION
	12 December 2024 - ENF - ran on 04.12.24

	11 Planning Service Improvement Plan (PSIP) – Local Validation List 2024-2026
	Appendix 1 - Local Validation List response summary




